

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Personal Hardiness as an Unexamined Component of the Healthy Volunteer Effect

Angelique E. Blann Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences Commons, Psychology Commons, and the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences and Public Policy

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Angelique Blann

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Raymond Panas, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Lee Caplan, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty Dr. Peter Anderson, University Reviewer, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

Personal Hardiness as an Unexamined Component of the Healthy Volunteer Effect

by

Angelique Blann

MPH, Drexel University, 2009

BS, The College of New Jersey, 2007

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

May 2023

Abstract

Clinical trials are the standard for approving medicines for public use. To conduct trials, researchers depend on a declining number of volunteers. The healthy volunteer effect, a phenomenon in which participants demonstrate better outcomes than their peers, limits the generalizability of trial outcomes. The healthy volunteer effect does not fully explain the outcome difference between volunteers and nonvolunteers. The purpose of this crosssectional quantitative study was to examine personal hardiness as an unexplored component of the healthy volunteer effect and determine whether personal hardiness is associated with willingness to participate. Hardiness was a personality construct that represented resilience to stress. The hardiness model for performance and health enhancement served as the theoretical framework for this study. Data were collected through a single-administration electronic questionnaire with 208 U.S.-based adults. Ordinal regression was used to assess the relationship between hardiness and willingness. A statistically significant association was found between high hardiness and willingness (p < .001), and high hardiness increased the odds of being more willing to participate by four times. An association between hardiness and willingness may provide participants with more accurate risk/benefit assessments and allow researchers to quantify and adjust for bias due to hardiness. Results could influence future study designs, result in more careful participant considerations, and impact how trial outcomes are interpreted and applied to the public. Implications for positive social change include quantifying and adjusting for hardiness as a standard practice in clinical trials, which could maximize the effectiveness of new treatments and provide insight into real-world efficacy.

Personal Hardiness as an Unexamined Component of the Healthy Volunteer Effect

by

Angelique Blann

MPH, Drexel University, 2009

BS, The College of New Jersey, 2007

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

May 2023

Dedication

This work is dedicated to M.C.H and Q.C.H. You are and will always be my greatest accomplishment.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my dissertation chair, Dr. Raymond Panas, and my committee, Dr. Lee Caplan, and Dr. Peter Anderson, for their support and guidance. I would like to acknowledge the village of people who made this possible. Thanks to all those who served as the social support in my personal hardiness model.

List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background of the Problem	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	8
Research Questions and Hypotheses	8
Theoretical Framework	9
Nature of the Study	11
Definitions	12
Assumptions	14
Scope and Delimitations	15
Limitations	15
Significance	17
Summary	19
Chapter 2: Literature Review	20
Literature Search Strategy	20
Theoretical Foundation	21
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts	26
Components of Hardiness	26
Hardiness and Health	28

Table of Contents

Hardiness Model of Performance and Health Enhancement	
Critiques of Hardiness	
Use of Hardiness in the Current Study	
Clinical Research and Research Volunteer	
Healthy Volunteer Effect	
Impact of the Healthy Volunteer Effect on Research Outcomes	
Conceptual Framework	41
Summary	43
Chapter 3: Research Method	44
Research Design and Rationale	44
Methodology	45
Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	
Description of Instruments and Validation Studies	48
HRG	
MSPSS	49
BRFSS	50
Willingness to Participate	51
Data Analysis Plan	53
Threats to Validity	55

Ethical Procedures	56
Summary	57
Chapter 4: Results	58
Data Collection	60
Review of Survey Responses	61
Demographics	61
Health Status and Positive Health Behaviors	64
Social Support	
Willingness to Participate	66
Hardiness	66
Research Questions	67
Personal Hardiness and Willingness to Participate	67
Positive Health Behaviors and Willingness to Participate	69
Social Support and Willingness to Participate	
Moderation by Personal Hardiness	74
Summary	77
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	79
Interpretation of Findings	80
Limitations of the Study	
Recommendations	
Implications	
Conclusions	86

References	
Appendix: Permission to use HRG	

List of Tables

Table 1.	Operationalization of Constructs	52
Table 2.	Descriptive Statistics for Demographic Variables	63
Table 3.	Descriptive Statistics for Health Status and Behaviors	65
Table 4.	Descriptive Statistics for Perceived Social Support	66
Table 5.	Descriptive Statistics for Willingness to Participate	66
Table 6.	Descriptive Statistics for Hardiness by Rank	67
Table 7.	Regression Results for Willingness to Participate and Hardiness	69
Table 8.	Regression Results for Willingness to Participate and Health Behaviors	73
Table 9.	Regression Results for Willingness to Participate and Social Support	74
Table 10	. Regression Results for Willingness to Participate, General Health, Hardiness	,
and	Hardiness and Health Interaction	77

List of Figures

Figure 1.	1. Conceptual Model of the Relationship Between Hardiness, Stress, and Health	
•••••		
Figure 2.	Hardiness Model for Performance and Health Enhancement	
Figure 3.	Proposed Model for Hardiness and the Healthy Volunteer	
Figure 4.	Sample Size Calculation	

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

I examined the relationship between personal hardiness and willingness to participate and assessed whether personal hardiness contributes to a type of selection bias in research known as the healthy volunteer effect. Contrary to its name, the healthy volunteer effect does not describe differences between healthy and sick patients but refers to a type of nonresponse bias in which individuals who participate or volunteer for research differ from nonparticipants in that participants are "healthier" in comparison (Delgado-Rodriguez, 2004). Clinical research relies on the participation of a declining percentage of the general population who volunteer for trials (English et al., 2010; Thomson et al., 2005; Unger et al., 2016). Selection bias due to the healthy volunteer effect is a known issue in clinical research (Czwikla et al., 2022; Pinsky et al., 2007; Struijk et al., 2015; Vehmas & Oksa, 2015).

Despite efforts to limit its effects, researchers performing retrospective analyses on clinical trials continue to highlight the differences between participants and nonparticipants (Czwikla et al., 2022; Froom et al., 1999; Hara et al., 2002; Lindsted et al., 1996; Thomson et al., 2005; Vehmas & Oksa, 2015) and its bias effects on research outcomes and conclusions (Bonovas et al., 2007; Church et al., 1993; Croswell et al., 2010; Elston, 2021b; Jordan et al., 2013; Kjellman et al., 2009; Krauss, 2018; Melton et al., 1993; Vehmas & Oksa, 2015). A component of the healthy volunteer effect that fully explains the differences between participants and nonparticipants remains unsubstantiated (Boniface et al., 2017; Foy et al., 2011; Jensen et al., 2022; Mölenberg et al., 2021; Peppercorn et al., 2004). As trial participation rates decline and research becomes increasingly complicated and costly (Bentley et al., 2019; Collier, 2009; Moore et al., 2020), it is essential that the research being conducted is meaningful to the public and has the external validity necessary to support drug approvals and evaluations.

In the current study, I assessed whether personal hardiness, a personality construct that results in resiliency in the face of illness, was associated with willingness to participate in a trial. An association between personality and willingness could explain the healthy volunteer effect components that are not yet understood. In addressing this gap, researchers could quantify and address the lack of outcome generalizability. Clinical trials provide information on the safety and efficacy of drugs and procedures before they are approved and marketed to the public. If the applicability of trial outcomes is routinely biased by the personality constructs of trial participants, identifying a potential association between willingness and the internal characteristics of participants could be beneficial to the clinical research industry. In this chapter, I provide background information on the state of clinical research, the healthy volunteer effect, the current gap in understanding of the effect, and the impact that gap has on the generalizability of trial outcomes. I outline the study's purpose; detail the research questions and hypotheses; and explain the assumptions, limitations, and significance.

Background of the Problem

Clinical trials are cornerstones of drug development. According to the World Health Organization (2020), a "clinical trial is any research study that prospectively assigns human participants or groups of humans to one or more health-related interventions to evaluate the effects on health outcomes" (para. 1). These health-related interventions extend beyond drug approvals, and include medical procedures, devices, behavioral programs, and other health-care measures. Clinical trials are integral in developing and approving novel approaches in many health-related categories (National Library of Medicine, 2019). The information gathered from clinical trials allows for a greater understanding of a treatment or intervention's efficacy and safety and the riskbenefit profile in its application to the population. As drug research has grown increasingly complex, so has the importance, and by extension, the difficulty, of conducting clinical research (Karampatakis et al., 2021; Sine et al., 2021).

Clinical researchers are under pressure to rapidly execute an increasing number of clinical trials (Tufts Center for the Study of Drug Development [TCSDD], 2021). Since 2001, the total research and development pipeline size across major pharmaceutical companies has increased by 170%, reaching a peak of over 16,000 drugs in development in 2019 (Lloyd, 2019). Despite the plethora of drug candidates, successful drug development, progressing from discovery to market, is at an all-time low (Dowden & Munro, 2019). Because clinical trial recruitment relies on the willingness of volunteers, one of the most significant burdens is not the enormous cost and time commitment a clinical trial requires but the lack of participants. Between 2005 and 2011, 20% of cancer clinical trials failed to complete enrollment (Fogel, 2018). Researchers suggested that trial outcomes face selection bias because clinical trial volunteers are not representative of their peers in the general population and that this bias is compounded by low participation in clinical trials (Czwikla et al., 2022; Fogel, 2018; Khera et al., 2015; Murthy et al., 2004). For clinical trials testing new medications, studies found that

participation of a greater number of patients with a higher likelihood for successful outcome potentially skews the trial results (Elting et al., 2006; Markovic et al., 2017; Richiardi et al., 2002; Tang et al., 2022; Thomson et al., 2005). The healthy volunteer effect does not fully explain the differences in outcomes observed among clinical trial participants.

Researchers have established relationships between the healthy volunteer effect and several potential external contributors (Ackerman et al., 2019, 2021; Burke et al., 2007; Delgado-Rodriguez, 2004; Pinsky et al., 2012; Stuart & Rhodes, 2017; Vineis, 1998). A gap in the literature exists because the observed difference in outcomes between participants and the general population is not fully explained by the healthy volunteer effect or any factor explored to date (Czwikla et al., 2022; Fry et al., 2017; Khera et al., 2015). The absence of a comprehensive explanation for the healthy volunteer effect from factors external to the participant has generated support for research on the internal characteristics of the clinical participants as a contributor (Hillyer et al., 2019; Sun et al., 2017). Researchers had not examined whether participant personality characteristics are associated with willingness to participate, which represented a gap in the field of clinical research.

Problem Statement

The healthy volunteer effect has limited the generalizability of clinical trials, a phenomenon in which clinical trial participants manifest significantly better outcomes relative to their illness state than the general population (Froom et al., 1999). Although the healthy volunteer effect has been well documented, previous research has been

sporadic and has yet to identify what variables determine the effect (Czwikla et al., 2018; Pinsky et al., 2007; Vineis, 1998; Zheng et al., 2020). Researchers have attributed the healthy volunteer effect to either the constant monitoring and intensive care clinical trial participants receive or to an expression of the Hawthorne effect, a research bias in which participants modify their behavior in response to being observed (Abraham et al., 2018; Adair, 1984; Burke et al., 2007; Delgado-Rodriguez, 2004; Elston, 2021a; McCambridge et al., 2014; McCarney et al., 2007). Both variables have received some support in the literature; however, neither has explained the healthy volunteer effect. Moreover, the effects of these variables have been studied only among specific trial populations and never among trial participants in general (Abraham et al., 2018; Ederer et al., 1993; McCarney et al., 2007; Thomson et al., 2005). Because previous investigations have not substantiated influences external to trial participants, part of the healthy volunteer effect may be attributable to internal factors such as trial participants' behaviors or biopsychosocial characteristics.

Researchers examining participant characteristics have determined that clinical trial participants are healthier than their general population counterparts. However, it is not clear whether clinical trial participants would present better outcomes than equally healthy (or ill) clinical trial nonparticipants (Foy et al., 2011; Krauss, 2018). Due to clinical trial protocols requirements such as inclusion and exclusion criteria, trial participants have fewer comorbidities than their peers in the general population who suffer from the same illness (Foy et al., 2011; Fry et al., 2017; Unger, Hershman, et al., 2019). The lack of generalizability in clinical trials is a current and ongoing concern in

clinical research (Averitt et al., 2020; Malmivaara, 2019). Researchers acknowledged the difference between participants and nonparticipants and recognized the issue this creates for external validity, but very few randomized studies assessed or adjusted for generalizability (He et al., 2020). He et al. (2020) found that among a sample of 187 recently published trials, less than 40% conducted generalizability assessments on their trial outcomes. Of those that conducted assessments, less than 30% reported positive results. He et al. highlighted how the lack of generalizability and the approval of medicines based on outcomes from participants who differ from real-world nonparticipants represent a safety risk to patients. Krumholz (2021) concluded that the biased selection of trial participants limits the generalizability of trial results. Krumholz noted that additional data from real-world patients was required across therapeutic areas to understand intervention outcomes. The lack of generalizability and the differences between participants and nonparticipants is a systemic issue in clinical research (Czwikla et al., 2022).

Although the difference between participants and the general population has been acknowledged and accepted, the differences between participants and nonparticipants (i.e., individuals who meet the same criteria and are eligible to participate in a trial but do not) are less understood. Because nonparticipants would be eligible for participation if willing, they should have similar comorbidities as participants. The nonresponse of these individuals should not skew the outcomes of a trial, but previous research has demonstrated that nonresponse bias (healthy volunteer effect) exists (Elston, 2021b; Fry et al., 2017). Clinical trials depend on the public's willingness to participate, and researchers have concentrated on capturing differences in willingness, defined as altruism, among trial participants (Kemeny et al., 2003; Lindsted et al., 1996; Olsen et al., 2020; Schutta & Burnett, 2000; Struijk et al., 2015; Stunkel & Grady, 2011; Truong et al., 2011; Verheggen et al., 1998; Weller et al., 2020). These investigations, predicated on a limited conceptualization of willingness, have not established a link between participant willingness and the demonstrated superior trial outcomes. In addition, these studies have not determined whether participant willingness is related to higher health status (Ginossar et al., 2022; Jordan et al., 2013; Scott et al., 2011). Further, research has yet to determine whether willing clinical trial participants possess characteristics that distinguish them from equally healthy (or ill) individuals who refuse to participate (Krauss, 2018).

In the current study, I examined willingness as part of a larger psychological construct not yet evaluated for its potential to better characterize a unique psychological and physical characteristic of clinical trial participants: personal hardiness. Personal hardiness is a personality construct that encompasses self-determination, a sense of personal control, the ability to become deeply committed to life activities, and a perception of challenges as growth opportunities (Bowsher & Keep, 1995; Kobasa, 1979; Maddi, 2013). Hardy individuals have the capacity to cope positively with stressful situations and exhibit better health in the face of adversity (Maddi, 1999a; 1999b). Hardy individuals are predisposed to take actions to manage their lives. This myriad of characteristics not only has the potential to explain previously uninvestigated components of the healthy volunteer effect but also has implications related to the divide between clinical trial participants and nonparticipants.

Purpose of the Study

In this quantitative study, I assessed the association between personal hardiness and willingness to participate in a clinical trial. I also examined the relationship between health status, health behaviors, social support, and willingness, and I assessed the moderation of any association by personal hardiness. This investigation addressed gaps in the healthy volunteer effect by examining the extent to which personal hardiness was associated with individuals who were more willing to participate in clinical.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

In this study, I examined whether personal hardiness explained differences between clinical trial volunteers and nonvolunteers that are not adequately accounted for in the healthy volunteer effect. I addressed the following research questions:

Research Question 1: Is there any association between personal hardiness and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_0 1: There is no statistically significant association between personal hardiness and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 $H_{a}1$: There is a statistically significant association between personal hardiness and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 2: Is there any association between positive health behaviors and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant association between positive health behaviors and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant association between positive health behavior and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 3: Is there any association between social support measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant association between social support measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 3: There is a statistically significant association between social support measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 4: Is there any association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial moderated by personal hardiness?

 H_0 4: There is no statistically significant moderation by personal hardiness in the association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 4: There is statistically significant moderation by personal hardiness in the association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Theoretical Framework

In this study, I used the hardiness model for performance and health enhancement as the theoretical framework. Developed by Drs. Salvatore Maddi and Suzanne Kobasa, the concept of hardiness was refined throughout the mid-1970s as researchers sought to understand why stressful circumstances appeared debilitating to certain individuals but created a positive stimulus in others (Maddi, 2006, 2013). Maddi and Kobasa's foundational analysis of stress in male business executives demonstrated that personality types or attitudes were associated with reduced illnesses and better physical and mental outlook (Kobasa, 1979; Kobasa et al., 1981; Kobasa, Maddi, & Kahn, 1982; Maddi & Kobasa, 1986). The traditional social and clinical psychological models that addressed the role of stress in physical and mental disorders focused on how behavior or social environment functioned to either increase susceptibility or decrease resistance to illness (Wiebe, 2020; Wiebe & Williams, 1992). Research by Maddi and Kobasa evolved to focus on stress resistance as a protective health factor. They defined hardiness as an intrinsic demonstration of strength that is best observed through a definable display of specified perspectives and coping mechanisms that help to facilitate protection from stress (Maddi, 2013). Three attitudes (challenge, commitment, and control) define hardiness (Maddi et al., 2009). These attitudes enable individuals to perceive stressful situations as growth opportunities and react accordingly (Maddi, 2006). Researchers established the relationship of all three attitudes to measures of personal hardiness and demonstrated that the absence of any of these attitudes diminishes measurable hardiness levels (Maddi, 2013).

The hardiness model of performance and health enhancement serves as the framework for defining the relationship between hardy attitudes and behaviors and health behaviors and outcomes. The hardiness model has been widely used to describe the mechanisms by which personal characteristics influence an individual's response to stress and illness (Abdollahi et al., 2019; Arshi et al., 2021; Bahrami et al., 2018; Baldassini Rodriguez et al., 2022; Dewi et al., 2020; James, 2021; Luceño-Moreno et al., 2020; Nakamura & Tsuchiya, 2020; Ndlovu & Ferreira, 2019; Pandey & Shrivastava, 2017; Robinson, 2013; Sadeghpour et al., 2021; Samoilov & Aleshicheva, 2022; Sandvik et al., 2020; Soderstrom et al., 2000). I applied the hardiness model of performance and health enhancement to examine the potential relationship between personal hardiness and willingness to participate in a clinical trial. In Chapter 2, I discuss the theoretical framework and the conceptual framework for hardiness and the healthy volunteer effect in further detail.

Nature of the Study

I used a quantitative design to investigate the relationship between personal hardiness and willingness to participate as a potential pathway for unexplored components of the healthy volunteer effect. A quantitative cross-sectional approach was appropriate for this study because the hardiness among those more willing to participate was compared to the hardiness among those less willing or more unwilling at a single point in time. Previous researchers compared participants and nonparticipants using similar methods (Ellis et al., 2001; Moorcraft et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2017).

For the current study, the outcome variable was the willingness to participate in a clinical trial, which was measured as an ordinal variable and assessed on a 5-point scale. The predictor variable was personal hardiness, which was measured as a categorical variable. Other predictor variables, which included health status, positive health behaviors, and level of social support, were measured as categorical. The Hardiness Resilience Gauge (HRG) was used to measure hardiness (see Bartone et al., 2022). Social

support was measured using the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support (MSPSS; Zimet et al., 1988). Health status, positive heath behaviors, and demographic variables such as gender, marital status, and income level were measured using the 2020 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey (BRFSS; National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2014). Participants were U.S.-based adults, and data were collected through a single administration electronic questionnaire using an online survey platform for recruitment. Ordinal logistic regression and regression with moderation were used for analysis.

Definitions

Clinical trial: A mechanism employed by researchers to assess new drugs, devices, and medical interventions (American Cancer Society, 2020). Clinical trials use volunteers who agree to participate in research. Before new treatments are approved for marketing and use, clinical trials are conducted to assess the safety and efficacy of treatment. Clinical trials are also conducted on previously approved drugs (American Cancer Society, 2020).

Hawthorne effect: A type of research bias in which a participant's awareness of an experiment causes a modification in behavior (Elston, 2021a). The effect may also be referred to as an observer effect because participants change their behavior in response to being observed by a researcher.

Health behavior: A combination of positive and negative behaviors that contribute to an individual's health status. Health behaviors include the following:

smoking, alcohol consumption, and exercise (Wiebe & McCallum, 1986). Health behavior was a covariate in the current study.

Health status: The perceived state of an individual's health, including physical, mental, and illness status (Wiebe & McCallum, 1986). Health status was a covariate in the current study.

Healthy volunteer effect: A type of selection bias subclassified as nonresponse bias. The healthy volunteer effect results when the participants in a study differ from the nonparticipants, and the participants are healthier than the general population they should represent (Delgado-Rodriguez, 2004).

Personal hardiness: A personality construct that describes a pattern of healthenhancing behavior and attitudes that facilitate an increased resistance to illness. Hardy individuals display qualities of control, commitment, and action in responding to life events and circumstances (Maddi, 2006). Personal hardiness was the independent variable in the current study.

Social support: The perceived support that people assess from those associated with them. Social support is the degree of believed care, love, value, and assistance people can anticipate from those close to them in times of crisis or stress (Ganellen & Blaney, 1984). Social support was a covariate in the current study.

Socioeconomic Status (SES): The economic and sociological currency an individual possesses that influences access to specific health resources. SES is categorized by three factors: education level, income, and occupational status (Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Assessing Interactions Among Social, 2006).

Willingness to participate: A self-reported measure indicating whether an individual is more or less likely to be willing to participate in a trial. Clinical trials depend on participation from volunteers. Only a small percentage of the population participates in trials despite their eligibility (Jiang & Hong, 2021). Willingness to participate was the dependent variable in the current study.

Assumptions

The assumptions included in this study were assertions that I made regarding the healthy volunteer effect, personal hardiness, and clinical trial volunteers. My first assumption was that I would recruit enough participants willing to complete my questionnaire. Although I examined willingness to participate, I assumed I would identify individuals willing and unwilling to participate in my study. Cross-sectional study designs are efficient and effective for conducting research; however, cross-sectional surveys are subject to information and reporting bias (Sedgwick, 2015). Despite this, I assumed that participants would be truthful in their responses to my questionnaire. I did not actively observe participants, but I assumed I would not experience bias from the Hawthorne effect, and participants would not modify their responses because they were participants (see Elston, 2021a; McCambridge et al., 2014). Lastly, I assumed that willingness to participate in a hypothetical clinical trial could provide insight into the willingness to participate in an actual clinical trial and lead to insight into the healthy volunteer effect. These assumptions were necessary for this research to be conducted efficiently and cost-effectively. These assumptions were also necessary to assess the

relationship between hardiness and willingness to participate. Lastly, these assumptions allowed the results to be generalized beyond the study population.

Scope and Delimitations

I examined the association between hardiness and willingness to participate in a clinical trial, an association that may be used to understand unexplored components of the healthy volunteer effect. The hardiness model of health and performance enhancement provided a framework for how hardiness works in concert with health status, health behavior, and social support (see Maddi, 2006, 2013). In addition to examining hardiness, I assessed associations between health status, heath behaviors, and social support, and willingness to participate in a clinical trial. I also examined any moderation of those associations by personal hardiness. All participants were 18 years of age or older. I included only U.S.-based adults. My focus on U.S.-based adults potentially limited the generalizability of the study outcomes to ex-U.S. trial participants.

Limitations

The study design was cross-sectional and relied on self-reported survey data. Information bias from the participants, which is a potential bias in research that requires self-reported data (Sedgwick, 2015), was a limitation in my study. I was limited in participant follow-up and excluded from relevant data, such as actual trial participation and retention, because the research relies on willingness to participate in clinical trials unassociated with my study. In addition, the study was also limited by assuming that individuals have access to clinical trials or are patients under the care of a physician who participates in clinical trials. As such, I could not examine the influence of personal hardiness in patients without access or means to participate in a clinical trial despite willingness. An additional limitation was that those unwilling to participate in a clinical trial who demonstrate a low degree of personal hardiness may also have declined participation in the current study. I was limited to analyzing those unwilling to participate in a clinical but who demonstrated enough personal hardiness to participate in this study.

Self-reporting bias may have limited the internal validity of this study. Selfreporting bias is a challenge in cross-sectional survey research. To address this limitation, I instructed participants that there were no right or wrong answers to the survey questions. In addition, I assessed willingness to participate in a trial on a 5-point scale. Using a 5-point scale to measure willingness allowed me to observe participants who were not definitively willing or unwilling to participate in a trial. A 5-point scale allowed for the nuances of willingness and avoided forcing participants to make a binary choice. Because hardiness worked in conjunction with health behaviors, health status, and social support, I explored associations between those predictors and willingness to participate. I did not account for other potential confounders such as neuroticism or altruism, which potentially limited the study's internal validity (see Funk, 1992; Kowalski & Schermer, 2019). There are several measurement scales for personal hardiness (Kowalski & Schermer, 2019). I measured hardiness through the HRG, which, despite adequate reported reliability and validity, is a recent scale (see Bartone et al., 2022). There is no standard measurement for hardiness and therefore construct validity was a potential concern.

Significance

Clinical trials are essential to developing and approving new medications, medical devices, products, and techniques (National Library of Medicine, 2019). Data from clinical trials inform regulatory bodies, physicians, and the public about the risks and benefits of a given drug, intervention, or procedure (National Library of Medicine, 2019). Most countries require clinical trials before drugs can secure official approval for marketing and use (Food and Drug Administration, 2017). Clinical trials are also a key criterion for the clinical acceptability of new medical treatments (National Library of Medicine, 2019). The number of clinical trials has increased rapidly and the complexity of the regulatory environment and the expense of conducting trials has increased simultaneously (Gresham et al., 2020). Furthermore, industry and academic sponsors and clinical investigators are under pressure to complete trials and reach conclusions more rapidly (DiMasi, 2002; Eichler & Sweeney, 2018; Wouters et al., 2020). The TCSDD (2021), an independent nonprofit research organization that seeks to improve pharmaceutical development, noted a 44% increase in the median number of required clinical procedures for Phase II and Phase III trials since 2009.

The healthy volunteer effect impacts the process and the outcome of clinical trials (Harrison et al., 2019; Leening et al., 2014; Lindsted et al., 1996; Struijk et al., 2015; Weller et al., 2020). Poor patient recruitment is one of the most frequently cited reasons for the discontinuation or failure of randomized clinical trials (Briel et al., 2021). Assessing a potential relationship between the willingness to volunteer and the personal predisposition that motivates a volunteer could improve public health practice by better informing the recruitment campaigns designed to increase the number of clinical trial participants. Researchers attempting to increase trial enrollment have focused on trial awareness and education (Olsen et al., 2020). If barriers in trial participation are also related to individual personality constructs, assessing those associations could influence how researchers address issues of trial enrollment.

The healthy volunteer effect is a long-standing concern because it can potentially bias study outcomes (Delgado-Rodriguez, 2004; Elston, 2021b; Fry et al., 2017; Lindsted et al., 1996) by providing results only for best-case patients (Czwikla et al., 2018; Garrison et al., 2007; Tlimat et al., 2020). If the protective health behaviors associated with personal hardiness make an independent contribution to the healthy volunteer effect, defining this relationship could generate positive social change. Through this study, I addressed a gap in the literature by examining whether hardiness is associated with willingness to participate in a trial, which could help explain factors in the healthy volunteer that are not currently defined or measured. If an association between hardiness and willingness exists, the hardiness of trial participants could be quantified, and trial outcomes could be adjusted for hardiness in the general population.

Quantifying and adjusting for hardiness may maximize the effectiveness of new treatments or provide insight into real-world efficacy. Trial participants who demonstrate a higher degree of personal hardiness may engage in lifestyle choices that maximize their outcomes beyond the efficacy of the experimental medication or treatment. Testing and quantifying the contribution of those choices to optimal outcomes could contribute to estimating the generalizability of a trial outcome. If trial outcomes are linked to an inherent level of personal hardiness, then optimal outcomes may be less likely to transfer beyond the trial population. Personal hardiness as an unexplored component of the healthy volunteer effect could clarify the extent to which positive clinical trial outcomes are reproducible for the population. This could generate positive change for individual trial participants and the public, researchers, and the broader clinical research industry by addressing the issues of outcome generalizability and providing a mechanism by which that generalizability could be quantified and proactively addressed.

Summary

In Chapter 1, I introduced clinical trial participation, the role of the healthy volunteer effect, and the potential contribution of personal hardiness. I outlined the research questions, purpose, theoretical framework, nature of the study, and significance of this research. I detailed the definitions of key terms, assumptions made in this study, scope and delimitations, limitations, and the approaches used to limit the influence of limitations on the validity of this research. Chapter 2 includes an extensive review of the current literature relevant to clinical trial participation, the healthy volunteer effect, and personal hardiness. The next chapter also provides additional detail and background on the theoretical and conceptual frameworks that served as this study's basis.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Clinical research and drug development rely on the availability of volunteers willing to participate in clinical trials. Although a definitive number is difficult to establish, only 2%–3% of the population in the United States participates in clinical studies (Jiang & Hong, 2021). The differences between volunteers for clinical trials and the general population amplifies the consequences of low participation (Jiang & Hong, 2021). Researchers have determined that the outcomes of clinical trials are biased toward best-case patients because most individuals who volunteer for clinical trials manifest significantly better outcomes relative to their illness state than the general population (Froom et al., 1999; Fry et al., 2017; Garrison et al., 2007; Markovic et al., 2017; Tlimat et al., 2020). The healthy volunteer effect offers a potential explanation for the observed difference but does not account for it.

This chapter details my literature search strategy and the theoretical framework's origins, applications, and appropriateness. I also review the previous research on personal hardiness, the healthy volunteer effect, and clinical trial participation. I outline the conceptual model I used to examine my research questions from the literature presented. Finally, I summarize the key points from this chapter and present transition material as a prelude to Chapter 3.

Literature Search Strategy

I conducted an extensive literature review using Google Scholar as the principal source for peer-reviewed journal articles. I also accessed proprietary and publicly available databases including EBSCOhost (CINAHL Plus, EBSCO ebooks, ERIC, PsycINFO, and Science Full-Text Select), APA PsycNet, EMBASE, JSTOR, MEDLINE Plus, PubMed, and SCOPUS. I used the following key terms for this literature review: hardiness, stress and health, illness, social support, personality, resilience, optimism, coping, hardy, Personal Views Survey, Dispensational Resilience Scale, Hardiness Resilience Scale, Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support, health performance, hardiness and illness, hardiness and health behavior, constitutional strength, hardy attitudes, healthy volunteer effect, selection bias, volunteer, and nonresponder bias. I used these search terms individually and in combinations to identify articles of interest. I did not limit this literature review to any specified period. Foundational research for the healthy volunteer effect began in the mid-1960s and extended to the present. Seminal literature for personal hardiness theory started in the late 1970s and early 1980s. Current research has focused on the application of hardiness.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical foundation of my investigation was Maddi and Kobasa's hardiness model for performance and health enhancement (Maddi, 2013). Maddi and Kobasa conceived of personal hardiness as a method to explain how and why individuals respond differently to stress (Maddi, 2013). Traditional social and clinical psychological models examining the role of stress in physical and mental disorders have focused on how a person's behavior or social environment functions to increase susceptibility or decrease resistance to illness (Wiebe & Williams, 1992). As researchers began to focus on the converse relationship (stress resistance as a protective health factor), the construct of personal hardiness evolved and became the predominant paradigm for such investigations (Maddi, 2013).

Hardy individuals are resilient when facing challenging situations. They achieve this resiliency by exercising a well-developed sense of personal control, mustering the ability to become deeply committed to activities that address the challenges at hand, and perceiving these challenges as growth opportunities rather than threats and losses (Kobasa, 1979). The hardiness model of performance and health enhancement is a unified framework for describing the relationship between hardy attitudes and strategies and their influence on health behaviors and outcomes. This model originated in psychological resiliency research that examined the factors that distinguish individuals capable of coping with stress from those incapable.

Two pivotal studies by Dohrenwend and Dohrenwend (1974) and Gunderson and Rahe (1974) found that stressful life events precipitated illness and disease. A curious aspect of the research on stressful life events and illness was the lack of uniformity in the observed effects. Although associations were determined, these researchers observed that certain factors appeared to mitigate the stress-illness relationship in some individuals. Both studies suggested that personality characteristics may be a conditioner for the buffering effects and recommended that personality as a consideration for future research.

Kobasa (1979) proposed hardiness or the hardy personality construct as a mediator between stress and adverse health outcomes. Kobasa's initial study examined the differing personality structures of highly stressed individuals who remained healthy and individuals with similar high-stress levels who became ill. Using a population of high-level business executives, Kobasa found that people who experienced high stress without falling ill expressed different personality traits than those who experienced illness under the same stressful conditions. Kobasa termed the personality structure observed in high-stress low-illness individuals as hardiness. In examining the specifics of this personality construct, Kobasa identified that hardy individuals demonstrate three general characteristics: "(1) the belief that they can control or influence the events of their experience, (2) an ability to feel deeply involved or committed to the activities in their lives, and (3) the anticipation of change as an exciting challenge to further development" (p. 3).

Kobasa's pivotal study confirmed that stress was associated with illness (Kobasa et al., 1981). Kobasa also observed that some individuals appeared to have mediators against stress and found that hardiness explained the differences between those who became ill due to stress and those who did not. Furthermore, Kobasa proposed the three characteristics of hardiness: control, commitment, and challenge. Kobasa theorized that the "components should be regarded not as mutually exclusive aspects of hardiness, but rather as inextricably intertwined aspects that bear a considerable resemblance to each other" (Kobasa et al., 1981, p. 369).

Researchers also focused on investigating and validating the hardiness concept, its components, and its role as a buffer to illness in the face of stress. Later prospective and longitudinal studies demonstrated that hardiness was valid as a mediator between stress and illness (Hull et al., 1987; Kobasa et al., 1981, 1983, 1985). Although the consensus of most researchers was that hardiness existed, further research was necessary to determine
whether hardiness was an artifact for other psychological characteristics or physical factors such as exercise (Kobasa et al., 1985; Kobasa, Maddi, & Puccetti, 1982), constitutional predisposition (Kobasa et al., 1981), social support and resources (Ganellen & Blaney, 1984; Kobasa et al., 1985; Kobasa & Puccetti, 1983), Type A personality (Kobasa et al., 1983; Nowack, 1989), and optimism (Maddi, 1999b; Scheier & Carver, 1985).

Prospective stress–illness analyses have consistently established hardiness as a significant resistance resource to stress and illness (Bartone, 1989; Kobasa et al., 1981; Kobasa, Maddi, & Puccetti, 1982; Kobasa & Puccetti, 1983; Wiebe & McCallum, 1986). In a 1982 analysis of hardiness and stress, Kobasa, Maddi, and Kahn noted that unlike stress, hardiness is not time bound and remains a consistent personality aspect that provides the most noticeable benefit during times of stress. These studies also indicated that the effect of hardiness was entirely separate or only partially accounted for by other psychological and physical factors (Kobasa et al., 1981, 1983; Kobasa & Puccetti, 1983). For example, Kobasa and Puccetti (1983) observed the joint effectiveness of personal hardiness and social resources. Kobasa and Puccetti confirmed that hardiness was a personality factor and was present in all demographics. Kobasa and Puccetti also observed that the most significant protective stress-illness effect was in individuals with high hardiness and high social resources. Individuals with high hardiness and low social support had some resistance, and those with low hardiness and high social support had the least protection.

In later studies, researchers differentiated hardiness and social support (Ganellen & Blaney, 1984; Kobasa et al., 1985). They also determined that although social support was related and could complement personal hardiness, hardiness protected the stress– illness relationship (Ganellen & Blaney, 1984; Kobasa et al., 1985). Wiebe and McCallum (1986) proposed a causal pathway for the relationship between hardiness, stress, and illness. Wiebe and McCallum found that illness is not an inevitable consequence of stress in all people. Additionally, Wiebe and McCallum determined that stress and hardiness are independent and that hardiness has direct and indirect effects on stress, working directly through resistance to illness and providing indirect impact through health behaviors.

Hardiness does not change the effect of stress on illness but directly mediates. (Wiebe, 1991, 2020; Wiebe & McCallum, 1986; Wiebe & Williams, 1992). Hardiness indirectly affects stress and illness through its influences on health practices (Wiebe, 2020; Wiebe & McCallum, 1986). As shown in Figure 1, with the addition of threat appraisal (Allred & Smith, 1989) and coping responses (Manning et al., 1988; Nowack, 1989; Parelkar et al., 2013; Scheier & Carver, 1985; Williams et al., 1992), the basic conceptual model for the relationship between hardiness, stress, and health was established.

Figure 1

Conceptual Model of the Relationship Between Hardiness, Stress, and Health



Note. Copyright Wiebe, 1992, p. 240.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts

Components of Hardiness

In their initial hardiness studies, Kobasa and Maddi proposed elements that compose a hardy personality (Kobasa, 1979; Kobasa et al., 1981; Maddi, 1999a, 1999b). The foundation of the hardiness conceptualization is that all individuals face stressful situations (Maddi, 2006). To successfully navigate a life in which they face inherently stressful situations, people must possess existential courage. When faced with a stressor, people use existential courage to view stress (consciously or unconsciously) as a potential growth opportunity because a component of their personalities recognizes that avoidance, anger, or neglect are ineffective ways to process stressors (Maddi, 2006). When viewed from this perspective, hardiness as a concept is "an operationalization of existential courage" (Maddi, 2006, p. 162) providing the specific "attitudes and strategies that work to facilitate resilience under stress" (Maddi, 2013, p. 7).

Three attitudes or the three Cs (challenge, commitment, and control) define hardiness (Kowalski & Schermer, 2019; Maddi, 2006). These attitudes and the strategies they influence are the underlying factors that endow an individual with the skills (courage, motivation, and fortitude) to view stressful situations as opportunities for growth (Maddi, 2006). An individual may demonstrate more strength in one attitude, but a deficiency in one of the three attitudes will not yield a personally hardy individual (Maddi, 2013). The belief that as much learning comes from failure as success personifies the first C of challenge (Maddi, 2013). Those with a strong challenge see stress as inherent to life and believe a stressful situation can be an advantage (Maddi, 2013). Commitment is the attitude that emphasizes engagement under stress (Maddi, 2013). Those possessing commitment do not see the benefit of avoidance and disconnection, understanding that full participation and involvement in a situation, despite the stress, is the best way to cope (Maddi, 2013). Lastly, people with the attitude of control believe that individuals can influence stress. They fight against thoughts of incapacitation and weakness, choosing instead to use stress to their advantage (Maddi, 2013). Researchers have cataloged the importance of all three components, demonstrating how the absence of one or more attitudes, even with the strong influence of the other attitudes, does not make a hardy individual (Hull et al., 1987; Kowalski & Schermer, 2019; Maddi, 2013; Wiebe, 2020).

Hardiness and Health

The theory of hardiness has generated rich literature (Abdollahi et al., 2019; Dewi et al., 2020; Sandvik et al., 2020; Wiebe, 2020). The initial Kobasa studies (1979, 1981) focused on the effects of stress, illness, and hardiness on male business executives. However, later research demonstrated the application of hardiness across demographics such as the level of education, gender, and SES (Kobasa & Puccetti, 1983). As hardiness research progressed, a subset of work began focusing not on how hardiness mediated individuals from experiencing illness but expanded to investigate how hardiness buffered the response to illness (Bigbee, 1985; Hannah, 1988; Nagy & Nix, 1989). For instance, in a 1988 study examining hardiness in women with rheumatoid arthritis, Okun et al. found that patients who ranked higher in personal hardiness coped significantly better with their disease despite experiencing the same functional limitations as the less hardy cohort. Although hardiness did not influence objective physician-performed disease assessments, hardier individuals underrated their disease and symptoms on self-reported health questionnaires. The study also indicated that biological differences correlated to hardiness. Okun et al. found that components of hardiness, such as control, were significantly associated with increased T cell circulation and better perception of health.

In additional work, researchers found an association between hardiness and increased coping among cancer patients (Abdollahi et al., 2019; Bahrami et al., 2018; Dewi et al., 2020), individuals with diabetes (Arshi et al., 2021; DeNisco, 2011; Livingstone et al., 2011), older adults with low appetite (Engel et al., 2011; Walker-Clarke et al., 2022), individuals with chronic pain (Dorado et al., 2018; West et al., 2012), and individuals with sports injuries (Nakamura & Tsuchiya, 2020; Wadey et al., 2012; Williams et al., 2020). According to the Okun et al. (1988) study, the relationship between hardiness and health was not limited to people's coping and perception of their health or illness. Dolbier et al. (2001) investigated the differences in immune responses between high- and low-hardy individuals. Using blood samples, Dolbier et al. induced cellular immune responses to determine whether there were differences between high-hardy individuals and their low-hardy counterparts. In every antigen exposure, samples from high-hardy individuals demonstrated a greater response and proliferation rate in their immune response.

More recent studies replicated the neuroimmunological effects of hardiness (Pandey & Shrivastava, 2017; Reichmann & Holzer, 2016; Sandvik et al., 2013, 2020). Researchers also established the effect of hardiness on treatment-seeking behaviors (Bahrami et al., 2018; Tlimat et al., 2020; Tromp et al., 2004). Tromp et al. (2004) found a significant correlation between the time patients delayed treatment for head and neck cancer and hardiness. Patients who waited more than three months to seek medical care after experiencing known head and neck cancer symptoms were less hardy (Tromp et al., 2004). Tromp observed that less hardy head and neck cancer patients also demonstrated less active coping skills and less social support. In more recent studies in breast and lung cancer patients, researchers reached similar conclusions and observed that the healthy volunteer effect limited the generalizability of trial outcomes, and those trial participants demonstrated a high level of hardiness and coping ability (Bahrami et al., 2018; Tlimat et al., 2020).

Hardiness Model of Performance and Health Enhancement

Given the associations between hardiness and health, Salvatore Maddi and Susan Kobasa developed the hardiness model for performance and health enhancement in 1984 (Maddi, 2013). As Maddi (2013) noted, resilience is the ability of people to thrive and persevere in the face of stress and hardiness provides a method for explaining components of that resilience despite illness. Stress and how an individual handles and processes stress can play an intrinsic role in health (Antonovsky, 1979; Kobasa, 1979; Kowalski & Schermer, 2019; Wenzel et al., 2008; Wiebe & McCallum, 1986). As shown in Figure 2, the hardiness model of performance and health enhancement provides a unified paradigm for understanding how the implementation of hardy attitudes and strategies can influence performance and health (Maddi, 2006).

Figure 2

Hardiness Model for Performance and Health Enhancement.



Note. Copyright Maddi, 2006.

Critiques of Hardiness

Hardiness has been the subject of many critical reviews and analyses. Initial hardiness research lacked methodological grounding (Tartasky, 1993) or a validated measurement scale (Funk & Houston, 1987). In their critical analysis of hardiness, Funk and Houston (1987) questioned the generalizability of hardiness research due to the lack of uniformity in hardiness measurements or statistics. In a later review, Funk (1992) noted the growing consensus around 2nd and 3rd-generation hardiness scales, such as the Personal Views Survey and the Dispositional Resilience Scale; however, the overall applicability of hardiness research had yet to be determined. In 1995, Florian et al. validated the conceptual model of hardiness, stress, and illness among combat soldiers and addressed many flaws referenced by Funk's research.

Several aspects of personality and psychology potentially influence health outcomes. Through critiques of these pathways, researchers have studied personality aspects, including neuroticism, rumination, mindfulness, and worry, to explore confounding and correlation with hardiness (Aspinwall & Tedeschi, 2010; Kowalski & Schermer, 2019). Kowalski & Schermer (2019) found that hardiness acted separately from other personality constructs and better described the relationship between personality and mental health.

Use of Hardiness in the Current Study

The hardiness research summarized above validates my current exploration of hardiness as a potential component of the healthy volunteer effect. Researchers used the hardiness model for performance and health enhancement to examine groups of people facing similar health stresses but achieving different outcomes (Abdollahi et al., 2019; Arshi et al., 2021; Bahrami et al., 2018; Baldassini Rodriguez et al., 2022; Dewi et al., 2020; James, 2021; Luceño-Moreno et al., 2020; Nakamura & Tsuchiya, 2020; Ndlovu & Ferreira, 2019; Robinson, 2013; Sadeghpour et al., 2021; Samoilov & Aleshicheva, 2022; Sandvik et al., 2020; Weiss, 2002).

Clinical Research and Research Volunteer

Clinical trials provide the foundation for developing, manufacturing, and selling new medications. Clinical trials answer two fundamental questions about a potential drug or health intervention, (a) does it work (is it better than the standard of care, does it cause less severe side effects than the standard of care, and does it meet an unmet medical need?) and (b) do the benefits outweigh the risks? Clinical trials follow rigorous protocols and are highly regulated. In most countries, a clinical trial has assessed any medication or medical procedure prescribed by physicians. Clinicaltrials.gov, a registry and results database of publicly and privately sponsored clinical studies conducted with human participation, listed approximately 420,000 clinical trials representing 220 countries (National Library of Medicine, 2022).

Drug development through the planning and execution of a clinical trial is a lengthy and costly endeavor (Eichler & Sweeney, 2018; English et al., 2010; Gresham et al., 2020). Although the exact cost of developing a new drug is difficult to determine, reviews of published data estimate the cost from \$314 million to \$2.8 billion per drug from discovery to market, depending on the therapeutic area (Wouters et al., 2020). A sizable portion of development costs are accrued in late-stage testing during phase II and phase III clinical trials, which are larger studies involving hundreds or thousands of volunteers (Arrowsmith, 2011; Gresham et al., 2020; van Norman, 2019). Due to the cost and commitment needed to progress a drug into Phase II and III testing, researchers have expressed concern that approximately half of clinical drug failures occur during phase II testing (DiMasi, 2001; van Norman, 2019). A 2019 Forbes article highlighted that much of what influences the pricing and availability of medication is the research cost from experimental medicines that fail in human testing (Fleming, 2019; Harper, 2013, 2017). Researchers at the American Cancer Society found that although it takes on average six years of testing before a drug is ready for use in human clinical trials, the most ratelimiting step in the availability of new medications is the time it takes to complete clinical trials (American Cancer Society, 2020).

Drug development has become increasingly complex. Results from an analysis by the TCSDD (2021) indicated that the rise in the complexity of trial protocols has led to increased pressure and workload for investigative sites and study participants that lengthened trial durations. The rising complexity also made trial recruitment more difficult. Other researchers observed a correlation between the increasing costs and drug development delays with the trial enrollment challenges (Bentley et al., 2019; Eichler & Sweeney, 2018; Lamberti et al., 2021; Martin et al., 2017; Sine et al., 2021). Researchers have estimated that most clinical trials fail to achieve their initial enrollment target dates, with approximately 10%-30% of trial sites never enrolling a patient (Lamberti et al., 2021; Stempel, 2017).

Researchers have focused on understanding why patients do not volunteer for clinical studies (Elston, 2021b; Guerra et al., 2022; Lara et al., 2001; Mills et al., 2006; Murthy et al., 2004; Ross et al., 1999; Unger, Vaidya, et al., 2019). Although previous research established some of the reasons why patients do or do not volunteer for trials (Mattson et al., 1985; Schutta & Burnett, 2000), the disparity between patients who are eligible, and report being interested and those who participate is large (CISCRP, 2021). Beyond the study-driven considerations (e.g., time for participation and costs), defining the relationship between personality and biopsychosocial differences between trial participants and nonparticipants is essential. As clinical trials become more complex and trial participation rates decline, testing whether differences in trial participants could potentially influence research outcomes is necessary.

Healthy Volunteer Effect

The healthy volunteer effect is a type of nonresponse selection bias (Delgado-Rodriguez, 2004; Struijk et al., 2015). This phenomenon occurs when individuals participating in a clinical trial or study are systemically different from nonparticipants (Struijk et al., 2015). Researchers have focused considerable attention on the volunteer subject and whether and how volunteerism biases study results (Bell, 1961; Burr et al., 2016; Edgerton et al., 1947; Fisher et al., 2018; Lasagna & von Felsinger, 1954; Locke, 1954; Olsen et al., 2020; Richards, 1960; Wallin, 1949; Wei et al., 2018). In their pivotal examination of the volunteer subject, Rosnow and Rosenthal (1965) recognized the growing concern over what they termed "the volunteer problem". Rosenthal cited the desire to extend the generalizability of their work and the barrier of nonrepresentation among volunteers participating in research studies.

Researchers acknowledged the potential selection bias inherent in the use of volunteers. Rosnow and Rosenthal (1965) were the first to define the characteristics of volunteers and nonvolunteers. Whether research participation was through mail questionnaires or in-person psychological experiments, Rosenthal observed systemic differences between volunteers and nonvolunteers. Volunteers demonstrated consistent characteristics. They displayed greater intellectual abilities and tended to be more social and younger. Rosenthal concluded that in many psychological experiments, significant differences exist between volunteers and nonvolunteers. Although these differences introduced the potential for bias in their violation of random sampling, the effect of this bias on research outcomes could not be determined. Rosenthal's results aligned with an

earlier assessment that found measurable differences (education, age, and religious inclinations) between participants and nonparticipants that introduced unmeasurable sampling bias in research studies that relied on volunteers (Wallin, 1949).

Impact of the Healthy Volunteer Effect on Research Outcomes

Subsequent studies on research volunteers clarified the healthy volunteer effect and determined the effects that participation had on research outcomes. Those studies focused on the effects on odds ratios (Austin et al., 1981; Schieve et al., 2018), statistical inference (Ackerman et al., 2021; Jones, 1996; Stuart & Rhodes, 2017), and relative risk (Kreiger & Nishri, 1997; Tabár et al., 2019). Researchers found inconsistent results when measuring the healthy volunteer effect on study outcomes (Schieve et al., 2018; Stuart & Rhodes, 2017; Tabár et al., 2019). Most authors concluded that differences between participants and nonparticipants could lead to a misestimation of risk factors, and that the generalization of research depended on a thorough assessment of nonrespondents to define the effect of the bias (Boniface et al., 2017; Fry et al., 2017; Jensen et al., 2022; Mölenberg et al., 2021; Schieve et al., 2018). Study results continued to confirm fundamental differences among trial participants and nonparticipants, with participants tending to be younger, better educated, and demonstrating overall better health than nonparticipants (Callahan et al., 2007; Croswell et al., 2010; Ederer et al., 1993; Guerra et al., 2022; Ludmir et al., 2019; van Heuvelen et al., 2005). In a study examining personality assessments among volunteers in a Phase I clinical central nervous system drug trial, Ball et al. (1993) showed that participants performed differently than the general population on the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ). Ball et al. (1993)

found that participants demonstrated a higher willingness to take risks and more openness to new experiences. In a 2018 study, Wei et al. confirmed that trial volunteers performed differently from nonvolunteers on the EPQ and other personality assessments.

Studies on the healthy volunteer effect observed the impact on study outcomes in numerous ways. Ball et al.'s (1993) assessment of Phase I study subjects found that healthy individuals seeking participation in clinical trials may affect the reporting of side effects. Realo et al. (2018) indicated that subjects' personality was associated with their reporting of adverse drug reactions. In their research, Rosnow and Rosenthal (1966) found that volunteers are more likely to provide data that confirm what they perceive as the study's research goals. Participants and nonparticipants also show differences in health status (Boniface et al., 2017; Melton et al., 1993; Schieve et al., 2018). Using health records, Melton et al. (1993) analyzed nonresponders in a study of diabetic complications and determined that although the diabetes assessments were similar across participants and nonparticipants showed a significant increase in nondiabetes risk factors.

Researchers proposed the healthy volunteer effect to explain the unexpected differences in mortality rates observed in trials (O'Keeffe et al., 2018; Struijk et al., 2015; Zheng et al., 2020). When estimating the appropriate duration of prevention trials, researchers found that death rates among control groups were routinely lower than expected due to the healthy volunteer effect (Church et al., 1993; Struijk et al., 2015; Zheng et al., 2020). In a retrospective analysis of a population-based prostate cancer screening study, Kjellman et al. (2009) observed the benefits of the initial screening but found differences in overall survival and risk of death from other causes between participants and nonparticipants. Similar results were observed in assessments of lung cancer studies (Hestbech et al., 2011; O'Keeffe et al., 2018; Richiardi et al., 2002; Tang et al., 2022; Tlimat et al., 2020; Vehmas & Oksa, 2015) and breast cancer studies (Ellis et al., 2001; Paci & Alexander, 1997; Tabár et al., 2019) where the healthy volunteer effect led to an overestimation of benefits from intervention or screening and an underestimation of disease mortality. Retrospective analyses uncovered systemic errors or incorrect conclusions due to the healthy volunteer effect. For example, across several epidemiological and randomized clinical trials, Bonovas et al. (2007) concluded that statins prevented hematological malignancies. When this association was not clearly observed in the general population, Bonovas et al. suggested that the studies were subject to selection bias because of the healthy volunteer effect.

The observation of the healthy volunteer effect in randomized clinical trials is a significant finding because it does not question the internal validity of the participants (as all randomized groups have volunteered for participation) but questions the applicability of results to the general population (nonvolunteers). Similar outcomes were found in the Physicians' Health Research Group's testing of low-dose aspirin and decreased cardiovascular mortality. In this study, the significant reduction of low-dose aspirin on the risk of myocardial infarction was not detected because the cardiovascular mortality rate among the study participants was 15% of that observed in the general population ("Steering Committee of the Physicians' Health Study Research Group," 1989). The healthy volunteer effect made the impact of aspirin use impossible to confirm due to the

rate of events among participants, which was so low that it would have required 11 years from the study's initial completion date to achieve the required number of events ("Steering Committee of the Physicians' Health Study Research Group," 1989). Researchers identified statistical calculation errors due to the healthy volunteer effect in cardiovascular studies (Burr et al., 2016; Criqui et al., 1979; Leening et al., 2014), blood sampling trials (Jordan et al., 2013), and hypertensive interventions (Burke et al., 2007; Gorelick & Sorond, 2020).

A field of research focused on assessing trials and interventions for the healthy volunteer effect has emerged. Pinsky et al. (2007; 2012) found evidence of the healthy volunteer effect in an assessment of oncology prevention and screening trials. Volunteers in oncology trials were healthier and had a lower mortality rate than the general population. These results addressed findings from a 1996 study exploring the external validity of the Adventist Health Study results. Lindsted et al. (1996) observed the healthy volunteer effect when they found that the relative risk for all causes of death was higher among nonresponders than responders. Lindsted et al. attributed other differences in participants to the healthy volunteer effect. Participants in clinical trials demonstrate greater health awareness and, importantly, compliance with treatment. A study investigating healthy volunteer bias in dental research found that participants in a periodontitis study were more likely to utilize other health services, had lower surgery rates, and demonstrated differences in the effectiveness of treatment (del Aguila et al., 2004). In a cross-sectional examination of smokers participating in a dietary intervention trial, Thomson et al. (2005) found that participants had healthier dietary habits than those who did not participate. The healthier behaviors of participating smokers counteracted the effects of their smoking (Thomson et al., 2005).

Researchers confirmed that participants and nonparticipants differ in indeterminate ways, and an adequate explanation for these differences had yet to be provided (Burr et al., 2016; Froom et al., 1999; Krauss, 2018; Olsen et al., 2020). In a 1999 study on the healthy volunteer effect among industrial workers, Froom et al. found that regardless of trial and intervention type, study volunteers were in better health than nonvolunteers despite their primary illness. The healthy volunteer effect had become an umbrella term for unexplained differences among trial participants. Researchers had explored numerous possible explanations for the differences, including the inclusion and exclusion criteria of study protocols and physicians targeting their trial recruitment to healthier individuals (Ederer et al., 1993; Elston, 2021b; Hillyer et al., 2019). None of these explanations fully account for the observed differences in trial participants and attempts to adjust for the healthy volunteer effect statistically have not been successful (Ackerman et al., 2019, 2021; Foy et al., 2011; Stuart & Rhodes, 2017). In a 2011 analysis, Foy et al. created a model for adjusting disease status-related eligibility criteria in cancer mortality prediction models used in clinical trials. Foy et al. hypothesized that volunteers are healthier than nonvolunteers due to enrollment criteria, which explained why data from clinical trials differed from the general population. They designed a model that successfully adjusted for eligibility-related criteria but found that despite this adjustment, the model still did not fully account for the observed differences in trial outcomes. Foy et al. determined that there were unexplained components of health

behaviors that the model could not account for and attributed those additional factors to the healthy volunteer effect. More recent statistical modeling attempts, including advanced analytics and artificial intelligence algorithms, failed to fully adjust for the differences in trial outcomes between participants and the general population (Ackerman et al., 2019, 2021; Stuart & Rhodes, 2017).

Conceptual Framework

I used the hardiness model for performance and health enhancement as the theoretical framework for this study investigating the association between personal hardiness and willingness to participate in a trial as an unexplored of the healthy volunteer effect. Over the past 45 years, the model has been validated and applied in various situations and circumstances (Abdollahi et al., 2019; Baldassini Rodriguez et al., 2022; Luceño-Moreno et al., 2020; Maddi, 2006; Sadeghpour et al., 2021; Wiebe & Williams, 1992). Researchers used the model to describe differences in health care and health promotion behaviors (Abdollahi et al., 2019; Samoilov & Aleshicheva, 2022; Wiebe & McCallum, 1986). In this context, with modifications of specific inputs, the model served as an appropriate framework for understanding the effects of hardiness on a clinical trial participant's willingness to volunteer.

The hardiness model for performance and health enhancement was applied to a conceptual model for personal hardiness and the healthy volunteer effect. When applying the model to clinical trial participants, stress was the illness state precipitating the offer to enroll in a clinical trial. The willingness to participate in the clinical trial or effectively manage stressful circumstances reflected the model's hardy coping component. The

model further indicated that hardy individuals seek and maintain high-quality social support. These model components are consistent with research findings that healthy volunteers are culled from higher SES and have robust social and emotional support systems (Czwikla et al., 2022; Ellis et al., 2001; Fry et al., 2017; Jordan et al., 2013; Khera et al., 2015; Lindsted et al., 1996; Pinsky et al., 2007). The model also included a link between hardy coping and the adoption and maintenance of positive health behaviors, a variable of interest in this investigation. Finally, the model linked hardy attitudes and hardy coping to health status or outcomes through their interactive relationships with social support and health behavior variables. The conceptual model included personal hardiness as a personality component that leads to a greater willingness to participate among clinical trial volunteers. Personal hardiness influenced health status and behaviors. These components, coupled with the protective environmental factors associated with personal hardiness (increased SES and increased social support), comprised previously undetermined factors in the healthy volunteer effect. Figure 3 shows the proposed model.

Figure 3

Proposed Model for Hardiness and the Healthy Volunteer



Summary

Previous researchers established the unexplored differences between participants in clinical trials and nonparticipants. As drug development becomes more costly and complex, the need for trial participants becomes critical because it has a greater impact on the timely development of new medications. Current understanding of the healthy volunteer effect in clinical trials and its established influence on trial outcomes account for only a portion of the observed differences between participants and nonparticipants.

I proposed that individuals more willing to participate in a clinical trial demonstrate a higher degree of personal hardiness than those unwilling. In turn, hardiness makes participants more likely to participate and to express behaviors that may influence trial outcomes and lead to less generalizable results. In Chapter 3, I include details on the research methods, research questions, and hypotheses.

Chapter 3: Research Method

This chapter explains the quantitative methods I used in this research to examine the relationship between personal hardiness and willingness to participate in a clinical trial. I discuss the research design and rationale, study methodology for data collection and analysis, and threats to study validity. Approval from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) was granted before I collected any study data. This study was a nonexperimental examination of individuals offered the opportunity to participate in a hypothetical, unrelated, interventional clinical trial. I assessed individuals willing and unwilling to participate in the clinical trial for their personal hardiness, health status and behaviors, and perceived social support. I assessed differences in personal hardiness between those willing and unwilling to participate in a clinical trial and determined whether there was a statistically significant association between personal hardiness and willingness to participate.

Research Design and Rationale

I examined the association between personal hardiness and willingness to participate. The independent variable was personal hardiness, and the dependent variable was willingness to participate in a trial. Health status, behavior, and social support were covariates. Personal hardiness was assessed as a moderator on any association between the covariates and the outcome variable.

I used a cross-sectional design to examine personal hardiness among those willing and unwilling to participate in a clinical trial. I administered a single electronic questionnaire to gather data from participants. The research design was similar to that used by Ellis et al. (2001), which focused on randomized clinical oncology trials and examined women's attitudes and motivations toward breast cancer clinical trial participation. The Ellis et al. study was a cross-sectional survey that assessed how willingness to participate in a clinical trial differed among groups of women and their characteristics, such as anxiety and depression levels. I used the Ellis et al. study as the basis for examining the attitudes and motivations in clinical trial participation through a cross-sectional survey.

There were differences between the Ellis et al. (2001) approach and that used in the current study. Ellis et al. studied participation in a hypothetical clinical trial and emphasized the physician's role in a patient's decision to participate in a trial. In the current study, I did not examine the interaction between physician and patient and the physician's role in the patient's decision to participate in a trial. In addition, Ellis et al. selected participants facing a health crisis. In contrast, the clinical trial in the current study was purely hypothetical. Recent researchers have employed similar designs to assess the difference between participants and nonparticipants (Ginossar et al., 2022; Moorcraft et al., 2016; Sebatta et al., 2020).

Methodology

Population

The intended participants for this study were U.S.-based adults 18 years of age or older. All participants were required to provide informed consent to this study, and only participants who met the inclusion criteria were eligible to participate. Because it was impossible to survey all U.S.-based adults, I used a sampling strategy that allowed for an appropriate representation of the intended population. I used an electronic survey tool to obtain a representative sample of participants.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The minimum sample size for this study was 146 participants. I continued to survey participants until I achieved a minimum sample size of 73 participants willing to participate in a trial and at least 146 total participants. There are approximately 300 million U.S. adults (U.S. Census Bureau, 2022). Researchers estimated that fewer than 5% of eligible U.S. adults participate in interventional research (Unger, Vaidya, et al., 2019). Assuming a 95% confidence interval and a 5% margin of error, I calculated the minimum sample size as 73 participants willing to participate in a clinical trial. I conducted a power analysis in G*Power 3.1.9.7 for a one-tailed test with an alpha of 0.05, a sample size of 146, low association from covariates (R^2 other X = 0.04), and a moderate effect size ($H_0 = 0.15$ and $H_1 = 0.4$). I calculated the achieved power to be greater than 95% (1- β = 0.96). The electronic survey tool I used required a minimum of 100 responses to ensure census-based age and gender balance. Figure 4 shows the sample size formula.

Figure 4

Sample Size Calculation

$$n = \frac{z^2 \times \hat{p}(1-\hat{p})}{\varepsilon^2}$$

z=z score which for 95% confidence equals 1.96 $\varepsilon=$ margin of error (0.05) n= US adult population $\hat{p}=$ proportion of population

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

I used an electronic survey tool to recruit participants and collect data. I deployed surveys electronically through Momentive's SurveyMonkey Target Audience feature. SurveyMonkey Audience is a paid service that allows a survey to be deployed to a target audience. SurveyMonkey, a company that provides internet-based survey tools, compiles panels of participants to participate in surveys where they are a demographic match. For researchers seeking participants from the United States, there are two sources for participants: SurveyMonkey Contribute and SurveyMonkey Rewards. Panelists in SurveyMonkey Contribute participate in surveys for charity and sweepstake chances. Participants in the SurveyMonkey Rewards are granted credits for each survey they complete. Credits are redeemable for charity or gift cards. Participants in each panel are volunteers and provide demographic information such as race, gender, occupation, and location. In the current study, I leveraged the Target Audience feature to sample participants who were U.S. based and over 18 years of age. Participants provided implied consent by continuing with the survey. Participants were allowed to exit the electronic survey at any time. SurveyMonkey Target Audience was contracted for 150 completed

surveys. I planned to conduct additional surveys in increments of 50 as needed until the minimum of 73 participants responded that they were willing to participate and the minimum of 146 total participants was reached.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

I assessed personal hardiness using the HRG. I measured social support through the MSPSS. I assessed health status and behaviors using respective sections from the 2020 BRFSS questionnaire. I informed participants that participation in the study questionnaire was unrelated to their decision to participate or not participate in a clinical trial. I also informed participants that their participation was voluntary, and they were not offered compensation. I provided each potential participant with an informed consent, the selected BRFSS questions, and the HRG and MSPSS questionnaires. I collected demographic information, including age, race, marital status, education, and income, using the BRFSS questionnaire. Contact information (names, addresses, and phone numbers) was not part of the data collection.

Description of Instruments and Validation Studies

HRG

The HRG is a 28-item questionnaire used to calculate an overall personal hardiness score. The HRG evolved from the Dispositional Resilience Scale (DRS-15) (Bartone et al., 2022). Developed in 1995, the DRS-15 has undergone several transformations from the original 50-item scale developed to calculate the hardiness of city bus workers (Bartone, 1989, 2007, 2013). In identifying limitations in the DRS-15, Bartone et al. (2022) sought to improve the reliability and validity of the underlying

hardiness constructs of Commitment, Challenge, and Control. Bartone et al. combined 15 questions from the DRS-15 with 21 newly developed items. The most recent HRG consisted of 28 items, with the subscales of Challenge and Commitment containing 10 items each and the remaining eight measurements for Control. The HRG has a reported Cronbach's alpha coefficient $\alpha = .93$ for total hardiness and high reliability for each hardiness subscale: Challenge (0.85), Control (0.84), and Commitment (0.89; Bartone et al., 2022). The HRG is proprietary, and access is available through MHS Assessments. MHS Assessments does not share HRG scoring keys and algorithms but provides scored data sets through a web-based portal.

MSPSS

The MSPSS is a 12-item questionnaire developed as a self-reported measurement of perceived social support (Zimet et al., 1988). The MSPSS builds on the existing social support scales and addresses a previously missing component, the perception of social support. The MSPSS assesses social support through three sources: Friends, Family, and Significant Others (Zimet et al., 1988). Research has confirmed the MSPSS's validity and reliability. The Family, Friends, and Significant Other subscales have reported Cronbach's alpha coefficients between .81 and .98, with the full scale ranging from .84 to .92 (Zimet et al., 1990). The MSPSS questions and scoring are in the public domain and free to use. There is no established scoring convention, although results are often calculated as a total mean score (Zimet et al., 1990). I defined low perceived social support as a mean score between 12 and 35, medium perceived support as 36–60, and high perceived support as 61–84 (see Zimet et al., 1988).

BRFSS

The BRFSS is the world's largest ongoing health survey system (National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2014). Established in 1984, the BRFSS provides uniform questions on health-related risk behaviors and chronic health conditions. The BRFSS consists of a fixed core set of health and health behavior questions, a rotating set of core questions, and optional modules for specific U.S. states and health conditions. I included four BRFSS questions: one for health status and three for health behaviors. Health status is categorical and measures general health on a 5-point scale ranging from excellent to poor. Health behaviors include smoking, alcohol consumption, and exercise:

- Do you smoke cigarettes? (Every day, Some days, Not at all, Don't know/Not sure, Refused)
- During the past 30 days, how many alcoholic drinks per week did you have, include any alcoholic beverage such as beer, wine, a malt beverage, or liquor? (Number of drinks per week)
- During the past month, other than your regular job, did you participate in any physical activity or exercises such as running, calisthenics, golf, gardening or walking for exercise? (Yes, No, Don't know/Not Sure, Refused)

Alcohol consumption was categorized as low-risk drinking for females who report consuming fewer than seven alcoholic beverages and males who report consuming fewer than 14 alcoholic beverages. High-risk drinking was defined as seven or more alcoholic beverages for females and 14 or more for males. The BRFSS has been studied for reliability and validity and has high reliability and validity for understanding general health, chronic conditions, and mental and physical health (Lara et al., 2001; Pierannunzi et al., 2016).

Willingness to Participate

The Center for Information and Study on Clinical Research Participation is a nonprofit organization whose core mission is to understand and influence public perception of clinical research. Biannually, CISCRP publishes a global study on public and patient clinical research views (CISCRP, 2013). I used the CISCRP's "willingness to participate" question to determine participant willingness:

• In general, how willing would you be to participate in a clinical research study (Very willing, Somewhat willing, Somewhat unwilling, Not willing, Not sure)?

I measured those very willing and somewhat willing as willing to participate, and those somewhat unwilling and not willing were measured as unwilling to participate. Table 1 shows the operationalization of constructs.

Table 1

Variable	Definition	Measured/manipulated	Variable score
Age	Participant age in years	Survey	Years
Race	Participant race	Survey	White, Black, American Indian/Native Alaskan, Asian, Other
Marital status	Participant marital status	Survey	Married, divorced, widowed, separated, never married or member of unmarried couple
Education level	Highest level of education completed by the participant	Survey	Never attended school, elementary, some high school, HS grad, some college, college grad
Annual income	Participant household income from all sources	Survey	>\$25K, >\$35K, >\$50K, >\$75K, \$75K+
Willingness to participate	Participant willingness to participate in a clinical research study	Survey using CISCRP's willingness to participate question (CISCRP, 2013)	Very willing, somewhat willing, somewhat unwilling, unwilling, not sure
Health status	Perceived state of participant's health	Survey using BRFSS 2020 questionnaire (National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2014)	Excellent, very good, good, fair, poor
Health behavior	Combination of positive and negative behaviors, which includes smoking, alcohol use and exercise	Survey using BRFSS 2020 questionnaire (National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2014)	Smoking: Every day, Some days, Not at all <u>Alcohol</u> : # of drinks per week. Categorized as low or high-risk drinking based on # and participant gender <u>Exercise</u> : Yes, No
Personal hardiness	Key characteristics that enhance or undermine stress resilience or adaptability	Survey using the HRG (Bartone et al., 2022)	Scored through MHS Assessments
Social support	Participant's perception of support from friends and family	MSPSS (Zimet et al., 1988)	Low = 12–35, Medium = 36–60 High = 61–84

Operationalization of Constructs

Data Analysis Plan

This study addressed the following research questions:

Research Question 1: Is there any association between personal hardiness and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant association between personal hardiness and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 1: There is a statistically significant association between personal hardiness and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 2: Is there any association between positive health behaviors and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant association between positive health behaviors and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant association between positive health behavior and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 3: Is there any association between social support measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant association between social support measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 3: There is a statistically significant association between social support measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 4: Is there any association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial moderated by personal hardiness?

 H_0 4: There is no statistically significant moderation by personal hardiness in the association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 $H_{a}4$: There is statistically significant moderation by personal hardiness in the association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

I used descriptive statistics, including frequencies, to categorize the research participants. All descriptive variables were reported as frequencies, including gender, race, marital status, education level, and income. I reported the mean and standard deviation for age. The independent variable was personal hardiness. The dependent variable was willingness to participate in a clinical trial. Predictors of interest included health status, health-related behaviors, and social support. Logistic regression was used to assess the research hypotheses. The logistic regressions assessed for (a) any association between personal hardiness and willingness, (b) any association between health behaviors and willingness, and (c) any association between social support and willingness. I performed a regression analysis to determine if any significant association between health status, health-related behaviors, or social support variables and willingness were moderated by personal hardiness. The regression with moderation model included significant variables as covariates to address confounding. All analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS, version 27). A threshold of p < 0.05 indicated significance. Results were interpreted as odds ratios and significant moderation from personal hardiness was reported.

Threats to Validity

Potential threats to this study's internal validity included instrumentation and selection bias. As participants were recruited through an electronic survey tool, there was a risk that participants were not representative of the general U.S. adult population who could potentially volunteer for a trial. All panelists who are U.S.-based adults 18 years of age or older were allowed to participate. These criteria ensured that the study's participants were as representative as possible.

There are no standard measurements for personal hardiness. Previous hardiness research measured hardiness using the Personal Views Survey (PVS III-R) developed by Dr. Salvatore Maddi (Maddi et al., 2009). Through the Hardiness Institute, Dr. Maddi provided permission personally to utilize the PVS III-R. Upon his death, the Hardiness Institute no longer grants permission to utilize the PVS III-R for student research. The HRG is a recent hardiness measurement scale (Bartone et al., 2022). The HRG, which was developed in 2022, has sufficient reliability and validity and was based on the DRS-15, a hardiness measure that has been used for over 25 years (Bartone, 2007, 2013). The HRG, at 28-items, is a longer survey compared to the PVS III-R, which consists of 18 questions, and hardiness research has highlighted the risk in lengthy surveys (Bartone et al.

al., 2022). There was a threat to internal validity due to study instrumentation. The lack of a standard hardiness scale was a potential source of construct validity.

Regarding external validity, clinical trials recruit patients from across the globe. Although I included U.S.-based adults in this study, there is a risk that results are less generalizable to all potential clinical trial participants. Most trial participants are U.S.based, and the risk to external validity is minimal (CISCRP, 2021; Lamberti et al., 2021). An additional threat to external validity for cross-sectional surveys is self-responder bias (Sedgwick, 2015). Participants were potentially less honest in self-assessing their hardiness and willingness to participate in a trial. Self-responder bias is often amplified when the researcher observes participants (Sedgwick, 2015). By administering the survey electronically, self-responder bias was minimized.

Ethical Procedures

Participation was voluntary. I did not collect any identifiable information, and the confidentiality of participants was maintained. Because data were collected through an electronically administered questionnaire, there was no risk that responses could be connected to specific participants. Approval from the Walden University IRB (10-21-22-0250384) was obtained before data collection began. MHS assessments own the HRG, and scored datasets were only available through their proprietary portal. All data, including scored HRG datasets, were stored securely on a password-protected file on a personal computer.

Summary

In summary, this chapter explains the methodology for this quantitative study examining the association between personal hardiness and willingness to participate in a trial. This chapter provides a detailed overview of the study design, study participants, sample size calculation, instruments, data collection, and data analysis plan. Results from this current study are discussed in Chapter 4.

Chapter 4: Results

In this quantitative study, I assessed personal hardiness among those willing and unwilling to participate in a clinical trial. I sought to determine (a) the association between personal hardiness and willingness to participate, (b) the association between positive health behaviors and social support and willingness to participate, and (c) whether personal hardiness moderates the association, if any, between health status, positive health behaviors, and social support and willingness to participate in a clinical trial. I administered a questionnaire to collect data from participants regarding their hardiness, health status, health behaviors, social support, and willingness to participate in a clinical trial. I measured personal hardiness utilizing the HRG (see Bartone et al., 2022). I measured social support through the MSPSS (see Zimet et al., 1988). I measured health status and behaviors using the 2020 BRFSS (see Pierannunzi et al., 2016).

I used a cross-sectional design to determine whether participants were willing or unwilling to participate in a clinical trial, their level of personal hardiness, their health status, their positive health behaviors, and their social support. I also collected additional demographic information including gender, age, race, marital status, level of education, and income. I used ordinal logistic regression to analyze (a) the association between personal hardiness and willingness to participate in a trial, (b) the association between health behaviors and willingness to participate in a trial, and (c) the association between social support and willingness to participate in a trial. Moderation analyses were used to determine whether the effect of an independent variable on a dependent variable was equal across all levels of a moderator, or second independent variable. Moderation or interaction analyses were used to determine whether the presence of a moderator alters the relationship, if any, between variables. I performed a regression analysis with moderation to determine whether any association between health status, health behaviors, social support, and willingness to participate was moderated by personal hardiness.

In this chapter, I detail the results of my study, including an overview of the research questions, the purpose of the study, and data collection methods. For each research question, I discuss the results and present whether I failed to reject the null hypothesis or rejected the null hypothesis in favor of the alternative hypothesis.

Research Question 1: Is there any association between personal hardiness and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_0 1: There is no statistically significant association between personal hardiness and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 $H_{a}1$: There is a statistically significant association between personal hardiness and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 2: Is there any association between positive health behaviors and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant association between positive health behaviors and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant association between positive health behavior and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 3: Is there any association between social support measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?
H_0 3: There is no statistically significant association between social support measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 3: There is a statistically significant association between social support measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 4: Is there any association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial moderated by personal hardiness?

 H_0 4: There is no statistically significant moderation by personal hardiness in the association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 4: There is statistically significant moderation by personal hardiness in the association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Data Collection

I used a single administration questionnaire to collect data for this study. Before administering any surveys, I obtained approval from the Walden University IRB. Following receipt of IRB approval, I deployed surveys electronically through Momentive's SurveyMonkey using the Target Audience service. SurveyMonkey Audience is a paid service that allows a survey to be deployed to a target demographic of interest. SurveyMonkey is a company that provides internet-based survey tools. The SurveyMonkey Target Audience feature organizes panels of participants to participate in surveys where they are a demographic match. I used the Target Audience feature to sample participants who were U.S. based and over 18 years of age. I contracted SurveyMonkey Target Audience for 150 completed surveys. I planned to deploy additional surveys in increments of 50 until a minimum of 73 participants responded that they were willing or somewhat willing to participate, and the minimum of 146 total participants was reached. Data collection began on October 21, 2022 and concluded on October 22, 2022. I collected a total of 209 responses. After review, 208 responses were included in the analysis because one survey was incomplete. Although I contracted SurveyMonkey for 150 responses, they collected 209 responses based on their estimated completion rate. The completion rate was higher than SurveyMonkey estimated, and an additional 58 responses were provided above the contracted number. Because 165 participants reported they were willing or somewhat willing to participate, I did not deploy additional surveys and concluded the data collection after the initial round of deployment.

MHS Assessments own the HRG and scored data sets are only available through their proprietary portal, Talent Assessment Portal-TAP. Hardiness scores were generated through Talent Assessment Portal-TAP from October 22, 2022, through October 31, 2022. I stored completed surveys, including calculated hardiness scores, on a passwordprotected file for analysis.

Review of Survey Responses

Demographics

All study participants (N = 208) were U.S.-based adults over the age of 18 years. The median participant age was 41 years (SD = 15.2), and most participants were 18–44 years (57.7%, n = 120). There were 109 respondents who identified as female (52.4%), 96 respondents identified as male (46.2%), and three participants identified as other (1.4%). Most participants were White (69.7%, n = 145), reported being married (52.4%, n = 109), and had a college degree (52.9%, n = 110). Regarding income, most participants, 34.6% (n = 72), reported making equal to or more than \$75,000 per year. Table 2 provides the participant demographic characteristics.

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics for Demographic Variables

Variable	%	п
Age (in years)		
18–44	57.7	120
45–64	29.8	62
64–74	10.6	22
75 and older	1.9	4
Gender		
Male	46.2	96
Female	52.4	109
Other	1.4	3
Race		
White	69.7	145
Black	9.1	19
America Indian or Alaska Native	1.4	3
Asian	14.4	30
Other	3.4	7
Don't know/not sure/ refuse to answer	1.9	4
Marital status		
Married	52.4	109
Divorced	12.0	25
Widowed	2.9	6
Separated	2.4	5
Never married or member of unmarried couple	29.3	61
Refuse to answer	1.0	2
Education		
Elementary (Grade 1 through 8)	1.9	4
Some high school (Grade 9 through 11)	4.8	10
High school graduate (Grade 12 or GED)	18.3	38
Some college or technical school	21.6	45
College graduate	52.9	110
Refused	0.5	1
Income		
Less than \$25,000	16.8	35
Less than \$35,000	10.1	21
Less than \$50,000	18.3	38
Less than \$75,000	16.3	34
\$75,000 or more	34.6	72
Don't know	3.8	8

Note. N = 208.

Health Status and Positive Health Behaviors

With regards to health status, 18.3% (n = 38) of participants reported excellent health, 36.5% (n = 76) self-reported having very good health, 31.3% (n = 65) reported having good health, 11.5% (n = 24) reported fair health, and 1.9% (n = 4) rated their health as poor. Most participants (77.4%, n = 161) reported that they performed some form of physical activity in the last 30 days. When asked about their smoking habits, most respondents reported being nonsmokers, with 69.2% (n = 144) stating they do not smoke at all.

Participants also reported their drinking habits. On a per week basis, participants reported having 0 to 50 (SD = 7.85) alcoholic drinks. For female participants, consuming fewer than seven alcoholic beverages per week was defined as low-risk, and consuming seven or more as high-risk. For participants who identified as male, low-risk drinking was defined as having fewer than 14 beverages and high-risk as consuming 14 or more per week. The majority of female and male participants were categorized as low-risk drinkers. Table 3 provides data on participant health status and behaviors responses.

Table 3

Variable	%	n
Health status		
Excellent	18.3	38
Very good	36.5	76
Good	31.3	65
Fair	11.5	24
Poor	1.9	4
Don't know/not sure/refused	0.5	1
Exercise in last 30 days		
Yes	77.4	161
No	20.2	42
Don't know/not sure	2.4	5
Smoking		
Not at all	69.2	144
Some days	11.1	23
Every day	13.5	28
Don't know/not sure	3.4	7
Refused	2.9	6
Alcohol risk (female)		
Low risk	89.0	97
High risk	11.0	12
Alcohol risk (male)		
Low risk	87.5	84
High risk	12.5	12

Descriptive Statistics for Health Status and Behaviors

Note. N = 208

Social Support

Social support was measured using the MSPSS (see Zimet et al., 1988). Standard MSPSS scoring rates are from 1 to 7, where 1 = *very strongly disagree* and 7 = *very strongly agree*. A total perceived social support score was calculated by totaling the 12 MSPSS measures. I used standard MSPSS categories in which scores of 12 through 35 were defined as low perceived support, 36 through 60 as medium perceived support, and

61 through 84 as high perceived support. Most participants (65.9%, n = 137) had high

perceived support. Table 4 details participants' perceived social support.

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics for Perceived Social Support

%	n
65.9	137
29.8	62
4.3	9
	65.9 29.8 4.3

Note. N = 208.

Willingness to Participate

Willingness to participate in a trial was measured on a 5-point Likert scale, from *very willing* to *not willing*, and included a *not sure* option. Participants were asked "In general, how willing would you be to participate in a clinical research study (trial)?" Most participants (40.9%, n = 85) reported being very willing or somewhat willing, 38.0% (n = 79) to participate in a clinical study. Table 5 details participants' responses for willingness to participate.

Table 5

Descriptive Statistics for Willingness to Participate

Response	%	п
Very willing	40.9	85
Somewhat willing	38.0	79
Somewhat unwilling	9.1	19
Not willing	3.4	7
Not sure	8.7	18
<i>Note. N</i> = 208		

Hardiness

I measured hardiness using the HRG. HRG scoring is proprietary and only available through an access-restricted platform owned by MHS Assessments. Scores are reported as a total hardiness score and available for Challenge, Control, and Commitment subscales. Each participant received a raw total hardiness score and a standard score. Standard scores were adjusted to enable comparison of HRG scores across a normalized population. The norm HRG group provided a benchmark for creating a normal curve for HRG scores. Per the HRG manual, scores can be reported as low, medium, or high, where high represents a score above 110, medium represents scores between 90 and 110, and low scores are below 90. Participants in the current study ranged in hardiness from 50 to 135 (M = 97.7, SD = 16.6). Table 6 provides participant responses for hardiness.

Table 6

Descriptive Statistics for Hardiness by Rank

Response	%	n
High hardiness	24.0%	50
Medium hardiness	42.3%	88
Low hardiness	33.7%	70
<i>Note</i> . $N = 208$		

Research Questions

Personal Hardiness and Willingness to Participate

I assessed the association between personal hardiness and willingness to

participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 1: Is there any association between personal hardiness and an

individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant association between personal hardiness

and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 $H_{a}1$: There is a statistically significant association between personal hardiness and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Hardiness was ranked as high, medium, or low, and I defined willingness to participate as very willing, somewhat willing, somewhat unwilling, not willing, and not sure. I conducted a regression analysis to assess the relationship between hardiness and willingness, where willingness was the dependent ordinal variable, and personal hardiness was an independent variable. As the response variable, willingness to participate was treated as ordinal and had an assumed natural order descending from very willing to not sure, where the distance between levels was unknown. An ordinal logistic regression (OLR) is an extension of logistic regression that assesses the association between an ordinal dependent variable and one or more independent variables. Four assumptions are required to confirm whether ordinal logistic regression is an appropriate test. Assumption 1 required that the dependent variable be ordinal. Willingness to participate, as the dependent variable, was measured on an ordinal level, ranging from very willing to not sure. Assumption 2 stated that the independent variable or variables must be continuous, ordinal, or categorical. The independent variable in this study is hardiness which was measured categorically. Assumption 3 required that the independent variables be not highly correlated. I conducted a series of collinearity diagnostics and determined that there was no multicollinearity between the independent variables for hardiness, social support, and health behaviors. Assumption 4 required proportional odds or that the independent variable has the same effect on each interval of the dependent variable. The model fitting showed that the final model significantly improved the fit of

the data, LR $\chi^2(2) = 14.9$, p < .001. In addition, the goodness-of-fit test rejected the null hypothesis and concluded that the model fit was good for both Pearson, $\chi^2(6, N = 208) = 5.4$, p = .49, and Deviance, $\chi^2(6, N = 208) = 4.67$, p = .59.

The independent variable, hardiness, contributed to the model at the high hardiness level, $\beta = 1.39$, SE = .37, Wald = 14.42, p < .001 High hardiness participants were more likely to be more willing to participate in a trial, $Exp_\beta = 4.01$, 95% CI [1.96, 8.21], compared to the reference level, low hardiness. For high hardiness participants, the odds of being more willing to participate in a trial was four times that of low hardiness participants. Table 7 details the regression results for hardiness and willingness.

Table 7

						95% CI f	or Exp_β
Response	β	SE	Wald	Sig	Exp_β	Lower	Upper
High hardiness	1.39	.37	14.42	.000	4.01	1.96	821
Medium hardiness	.48	.29	2.67	.102	1.62	.91	2.90

Regression Results for Willingness to Participate and Hardiness

Note. Low hardiness is the reference variable.

Positive Health Behaviors and Willingness to Participate

I assessed the association between positive health behaviors and willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 2: Is there any association between positive health behaviors

and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant association between positive health

behaviors and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant association between positive health behavior and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Participants responded to three questions related to positive health behaviors. I treated the independent variable, SMOKE, as an ordinal variable, with responses ranging from not at all to every day. The independent variable, EXERANY, was treated as a nominal variable, with responses of Yes and No. I asked participants how many alcoholic beverages they consumed per week. Responses were recoded to indicate low or high-risk drinking depending on gender. The independent variables, @DRINKRISKFEMALE and @DRINKRISKMALE, defined high or low risk drinking. I conducted a regression analysis to assess the relationship between positive health behaviors, smoking, and exercise, where having not smoked at all and having exercised at least once in the last 30 days were considered positive health behaviors, and willingness to participate in a clinical trial, where willingness was the dependent, ordinal variable. I defined low risk drinking as a positive health behavior. Because drinking risk was specific to gender, a separate regression analysis was performed for each gender. As the response variable, willingness to participate was treated as ordinal and had an assumed natural order descending from *very willing* to *not sure*, where the distance between levels was unknown. As with hardiness, an ordinal logistic regression analysis was conducted to assess the association between smoking, exercise, and willingness. The independent variables were assessed a priori to confirm there was no violation of the no multicollinearity assumption. The model fitting showed that the final model did significantly improve the fit of the data, LR $\chi^2(3) = 18.06$, p < .001. In addition, the

goodness-of-fit test failed to reject the null hypothesis and confirmed that the model fit was good for Deviance, $\chi^2(17, N = 191) = 23.34, p = .139$. The null hypothesis was rejected for Pearson, $\chi^2(17, N = 191) = 31.41, p = .018$.

The independent variables, SMOKE and EXERANY, contributed to the model. For SMOKE, the model was significant for those who reported not smoking at all, $\beta = -$ 1.25, SE = .44, Wald = 8.00, p = .005, and for those who reported smoking some days, β = -1.49, SE = .57, Wald = 6.90, p = .009, where smoking every day was the reference category. Not smoking at all was associated with less willingness to participate, Exp $\beta =$.29, 95% CI [.12, .68] compared to the reference level, smoking every day. Smoking some days was also associated with less willingness to participate, Exp $\beta = .22, 95\%$ CI [.07, .68] compared to the reference level, smoking every day. Participants who did not smoke at all were 3.5 times less likely to be willing to participate compared to those who reported smoking every day. Participants who smoked some days were 4.5 times less likely to be willing to participate compared to those who reported smoking every day. Not smoking at all was associated with lower odds of willingness. For EXERANY, the model was significant for those who reported exercising at least once in the last 30 days, $\beta = .99$ SE = .36, Wald = 8.18, p = .004. The estimated odds ratio indicated a relationship between exercise, any exercise in the last 30 days, and willingness, Exp $\beta = 2.69, 95\%$ CI [1.37, .5.31] compared to the reference level, not exercising at all. Participants who exercised at least once in the last 30 days were 2.6 times more likely to be more willing to participate compared to those who did not exercise.

To assess the association between willingness and drinking risk by gender, I recoded the dependent variable willingness into separate variables for males, WILLMALE, and females, WILLFEMALE. The independent variables, @DRINKRISKFEMALE and @DRINKRISKMALE, defined high or low-risk drinking. An ordinal logistic regression analysis was conducted to assess the association between drinking risk and willingness. Both @DRINKRISKFEMALE and @DRINKRISKMALE were assessed a priori to confirm there was no violation of the no multicollinearity assumption. The model fitting showed that the final model did not significantly improve the fit of the data for @DRINKRISKMALE, LR $\chi^2(1) = 7.1$, p = .69 or for @DRINKRISKFEMALE, LR $\chi^2(1) = 7.65$, p = .32. As such neither regression returned results for goodness-of-fit. For @DRINKRISKFEMALE and @ DRINKRISKMALE, the association between high-risk drinking and willingness were not statistically significant. Table 8 details the regression results for health behaviors and willingness.

Table 8

						95% CI fo	r Exp_β
Variable	β	SE	Wald	Sig	Exp_β	Lower	Upper
Smoking Not at all	-1.25	.44	8.03	.005	.29	.12	.68
Smoking Some days	-1.49	.57	6.90	.009	.22	.07	.68
Exercised At least once in 30 days	.99	.35	8.16	.004	2.69	1.37	5.31
High-risk drinking female	.64	.65	.96	.327	1.89	.53	6.84
High-risk drinking male	32	.80	.16	.692	.73	.15	3.51

Regression Results for Willingness to Participate and Health Behaviors

Note. Smoking every day, not exercising in the last 30 days, and low risk drinking are the reference variables.

Social Support and Willingness to Participate

I assessed the association between social support and willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Research Question 3: Is there any association between social support measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial?

 H_03 : There is no statistically significant association between social support

measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 3: There is a statistically significant association between social support

measures and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

I measured participant social support using the MSPSS (see Zimet et al., 1988). I defined low perceived social support as a mean score between 12-35, medium perceived support as 36-60, and high perceived support as 61-84. The independent variable, SOCIALSUPPORTRANK, was treated as an ordinal variable with ranked low, medium, and high responses. I conducted a regression analysis to assess the relationship between social support and willingness, where willingness was the dependent, ordinal variable. As the response variable, willingness to participate was treated as ordinal and had an assumed natural order descending from *very willing* to *not sure*, where the distance between levels was unknown. An ordinal logistic regression analysis was conducted to assess the association between social support and willingness. The independent variable was assessed a priori to confirm no violation of the no multicollinearity assumption. The model fitting showed that the final model did not significantly improve the fit of the data, LR $\chi^2(2) = 2.67$, *p* =.264. Regarding the goodness-of-fit test, the analysis failed to reject the null hypothesis for both Pearson, $\chi^2(6, N = 208) = 3.43$, p = .754 and Deviance, $\chi^2(16, N = 208) = 3.58$, p = .734. The independent variable, SOCIALSUPPORT RANK, did not contribute to the model in a statistically significantly way. Table 9 details the regression results for social support and willingness.

Table 9

						95% CI fo	r Exp_β
Variable	β	SE	Wald	Sig	Exp_β	Lower	Upper
High social support	.81	.63	1.67	.197	2.25	.66	7.68
Medium social support	.46	.65	.51	.474	1.59	.45	5.67

Regression Results for Willingness to Participate and Social Support

Note. Low social support is the reference variable.

Moderation by Personal Hardiness

I assessed whether any statistically significant association found between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial was moderated by personal hardiness. Research Question 4: Is there any association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial moderated by personal hardiness?

 H_0 4: There is no statistically significant moderation by personal hardiness in the association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

 H_a 4: There is statistically significant moderation by personal hardiness in the association between health status, health-related behaviors, and social support variables and an individual's willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

Because social support was not associated with willingness in a statistically significant manner, I conducted a regression with moderation using general health, exercise, and smoking as the independent variables, willingness as the dependent variable, and hardiness as a moderator. General health, GENHEALTH, was treated as an ordinal variable with values ranging from *excellent* to *poor*. Smoking was recoded to the variable SMOKERECODE and treated as an ordinal variable with values from *not at all* to *every day*. Exercise in the last 30 days, recoded as EXERANYRECODE, was treated as a nominal variable, with responses of Yes and No. As the response variable, willingness to participate was treated as ordinal and had an assumed natural order descending from *very willing* to *not sure*, where the distance between levels was unknown. Hardiness was ranked as high, medium, or low. I created interaction terms for hardiness and health, hardiness and smoking, and hardiness and exercise.

I conducted a regression analysis to assess the association between smoking, general health, exercise, and willingness to participate in a clinical trial, and any moderation of those associations by personal by hardiness. The independent variables were assessed a priori to confirm no violation of the no multicollinearity assumption. The model fitting showed that the final model significantly improved the fit of the data, LR $\chi^2(18) = 183.42, p < .001$. In addition, the goodness-of-fit test failed to reject the null hypothesis and confirmed that the model fit was good for Deviance, $\chi^2(111.52, N = 114) = 23.34, p = .548$. The null hypothesis was rejected for Pearson, $\chi^2(215.99, N = 114) = 31.41, p = .000$.

Hardiness and the interaction between hardiness and health were significant predictors for willingness to participate and smoking and exercise status were not. High hardiness was associated with higher odds of being more willing to participate in a trial, the $\beta = 1.33$ SE = .39, Wald = 13.02, p < .001. High hardiness and excellent general health significantly increased the odds of being more willing to participate, the $\beta = 90.23$, SE = 5.04, Wald = 320.11, p < .001. I also found statistically significant moderation by hardiness, at the high hardiness level, for very good and good general health levels. Table 10 details the regression results for general health, hardiness, and willingness and interaction with hardiness.

Table 10

Variable	β	SE	Wald	Sig
High hardiness	1.33	.39	13.02	.000
Medium hardiness	.43	.30	2.03	.154
High hardiness X	90.28	5.04	320.11	.000
Excellent health				
interaction				
High hardiness X	65.91	3.40	375.72	.000
very good health				
interaction				
High hardiness X	43.84	2.56	293.70	.000
good health				
interaction				
High hardiness X	2.42	1.34	3.28	.070
Exercise at least				
once interaction				
High hardiness X	-1.14	.71	2.56	.110
smoking not at all				
interaction				

Regression Results for Willingness to Participate, General Health, Hardiness, and Hardiness and Health Interaction

Note. Low hardiness, poor health, no exercise in the last 30 days, and smoking every day are reference variables.

Summary

I rejected the null hypothesis for Research Question 1 and demonstrated an association between hardiness and willingness to participate. For Research Question 2, which examined positive health behaviors, I partially rejected the null hypothesis in favor of the alternative hypothesis. I did not find an association between drinking risk and willingness. Although I did demonstrate an association between smoking and willingness, the positive behavior, not smoking at all, and smoking some days were associated with a decrease in willingness not an increase in likelihood of being willing. The positive health behavior of exercising at least once in the last 30 days was associated with increased willingness. I failed to reject the null hypothesis in favor of the alternative hypothesis for Research Question 3, as no significant association between social support and willingness was observed. Lastly, I partially rejected the null hypothesis for Research Question 4 as moderation by hardiness was observed in the association between general health and willingness to participate, however, I did not find moderation for smoking or exercise by hardiness. I discuss the findings of this research in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

In this quantitative cross-sectional study, I examined the association between hardiness and willingness to participate in a clinical trial to determine whether hardiness is an unexplored component of the healthy volunteer effect. From October to November 2022, I collected and analyzed data to address four research questions and hypotheses. I deployed a single-administration electronic survey to a representative sample of U.S.based adults. I measured personal hardiness using the HRG and social support using the MSPSS. Health behaviors and demographics were collected using the 2020 BRFSS questionnaire, and I assessed willingness to participate using language from the CISCRP willingness to participate questionnaire. I analyzed the data using ordinal regression analyses in SPSS to test (a) the association between personal hardiness and willingness to participate, (b) the association between positive health behaviors and willingness to participate, (c) social support and willingness to participate, and (d) whether personal hardiness moderates the association, if any, between health status, positive health behaviors, and social support and willingness to participate in a clinical trial.

I found a statistically significant association between personal hardiness and willingness to participate, where individuals with higher hardiness were more likely to be willing to participate in a clinical trial. I also determined that positive health behavior of exercise (having exercised at least once in the last 30 days) was significantly associated with an increased willingness to participate. I did not observe a significant association between social support and willingness or drinking risk and willingness. Regarding smoking, smoking was associated with increased willingness. However, the association was the inverse and not smoking at all and smoking some days was associated with being less willing to participate. I also determined that the association between general health and willingness, where excellent health was associated with an increase in willingness, was moderated by personal hardiness.

Interpretation of Findings

I sought to examine unexplored components of the healthy volunteer effect, a phenomenon in which clinical trial participants demonstrate better outcomes than their peers who do not participate. The healthy volunteer effect leads to bias in clinical trials, their outcome, and interpretation (Callahan et al., 2007; Croswell et al., 2010; Ederer et al., 1993; Guerra et al., 2022; Ludmir et al., 2019). The healthy volunteer effect, as currently understood, does not fully explain the outcome difference between volunteers and nonvolunteers. Researchers have established that there are unexplored differences between participants and nonparticipants in clinical trials. Current understanding of the healthy volunteer effect in clinical trials and its established influence on trial outcomes accounts for only some differences between participants and nonparticipants (Burr et al., 2016; Froom et al., 1999; Krauss, 2018; Olsen et al., 2020).

I assessed the association between hardiness and willingness to determine whether individuals more willing to participate in a clinical trial would differ in their personal hardiness from those unwilling. An association between hardiness and willingness could explain why trial participants who are generally better educated, have higher income, are healthier, and are potentially hardier would express behaviors that may influence trial outcomes and lead to less generalizable results. In this study, I confirmed previous research that found differences between individuals willing and unwilling to participate in a trial. As an extension of the field, I determined that hardiness was associated with willingness and that the relationship between excellent health and willingness was moderated by personal hardiness. Although previous research had established the relationship between hardiness, health, and coping in the face of stress and illness (Maddi, 2013), the association between personal hardiness and willingness had never been examined.

I used the hardiness model for performance and health enhancement as the theoretical framework for this study. The hardiness model of performance and health enhancement provides a unified paradigm for understanding how implementing hardy attitudes and strategies can influence performance and health (Maddi, 2006). The model was an appropriate framework for examining the association between hardiness and a potential clinical trial participant's willingness to volunteer. In this study, I applied the hardiness model for performance and health enhancement to a conceptual model for personal hardiness and the healthy volunteer effect. I considered personal hardiness a personality component that leads to a greater willingness to participate among clinical trial volunteers. Personal hardiness influences health status and behaviors and, coupled with the protective environmental factors associated with personal hardiness (increased SES and increased social support), comprises previously undetermined factors in the healthy volunteer effect. I found an association between hardiness and willingness and an association between excellent health and willingness that was moderated by hardiness, in alignment with the conceptual framework. Individuals more likely to be willing to

participate in a trial were hardier, in better health, and more likely to exercise when compared to individuals who were less likely to be willing to participate.

I considered smoking as a health behavior in this study, where not smoking at all was defined as a positive health behavior. In contradiction to my hypothesis, I found that not smoking at all and smoking some days was associated with a decrease in willingness, not an increase. Smoking is a unique health behavior. Although smoking is associated with comorbidities and negative health effects, there are also associations between smoking and personality (Hakulinen et al., 2015; Kang, 2022; Munafò et al., 2007; Zvolensky et al., 2015). Researchers have found that individuals often smoke as a coping mechanism in response to stressful situations (Firat et al., 2022). Although researchers have found that nonsmokers are more resilient than smokers, smoking is highly correlated with increased neuroticism and smokers demonstrate higher levels of extraversion and are generally more open to new experiences than nonsmokers (Carlucci & McCuaig Edge, 2022; Choi et al., 2017). Personal hardiness, as a personality construct, works in concert with increased coping and positive health behaviors. As a result, hardiness protects against illness and leads to better outcomes in the face of stress (Maddi, 2013). The association between smoking and willingness that I found in this study could be explained if smoking was considered as a coping mechanism instead of a health behavior. If smoking also acts as a coping mechanism, an association between smoking and less willingness (i.e., less coping in the face of stress and illness) could be a consideration. In addition, the relationship between smoking and other personality traits

such as neuroticism may be confounding and require controls that were not included in the current study.

Limitations of the Study

There were limitations to this study. Because I relied on self-reported survey data, self-reporting bias from participants was possible. This may limit the study's internal validity. Previous research indicated that only an estimated 5% of people in the United States participate in trials (Unger, Vaidya, et al., 2019). I designed this study to address an anticipated low response rate from those willing to participate in a trial. In contrast to expectations, most participants in this study indicated they would be very or somewhat willing to participate in a trial. Researchers have found that more individuals report being willing to participate in a trial in a hypothetical setting than would be willing to participate in a trial in a hypothetical setting than would be willing to this study's external validity. Lastly, although I included known hardiness covariates and confounders in this study, such as health behaviors, health status, and social support, I did not account for other potential confounders such as neuroticism or altruism (see Funk, 1992; Kowalski & Schermer, 2019). I did not account for these cofounders in this study's analyses, which could limit the study's internal validity.

Recommendations

Through this study's findings, I established an association between willingness to participate and personal hardiness. I found that personal hardiness moderated an association between willingness and excellent health. Because I only examined participation in a hypothetical clinical trial, I recommend that additional research be conducted that addresses these associations in potential clinical trial participants who are actively facing a participation decision. In addition, given the relatively small sample of the current study, I recommend repeating this research in a larger, multinational population. I also found conflicting associations with regard to positive health behaviors, in particular smoking. I recommend that subsequent research include a broader set of positive health behaviors and personality factors to better control for confounding.

Implications

Clinical trials, the cornerstones of drug development, depend on volunteers willing to participate. The number of individuals willing to participate represents a small percentage of the eligible populations, and researchers have determined that participants are different from nonparticipants in a way that biases trial results and limits their generalizability (Jensen et al., 2022; Mölenberg et al., 2021; Schieve et al., 2018). The healthy volunteer effect, a phenomenon in which clinical trial participants manifest significantly better outcomes relative to their illness state than the general population, has been used to explain the limited generalizability of clinical trials (Froom et al., 1999). Although the healthy volunteer effect has been well documented, previous research had not fully identified what variables determine the effect (Czwikla et al., 2018; Pinsky et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2020). In the current study, I found that personal hardiness, a personality construct that describes a pattern of health-enhancing behaviors and attitudes that facilitates an increased resistance to illness, is associated with increased odds of being willing to participate in a clinical trial. Establishing an association between the protective health behaviors associated with personal hardiness and willingness provides insight into hardiness as an unexplored component of the healthy volunteer effect.

Defining this relationship and the unexplained components of the healthy volunteer effect may generate positive social change. In this study, I addressed a gap in the literature by determining that hardiness is associated with willingness to participate in a trial and is a potential explanation for factors in the healthy volunteer effect that had not been defined or measured. Because an association between hardiness and willingness exists, the hardiness of trial participants could be quantified, and trial outcomes could be adjusted for hardiness in the general population. Quantifying and adjusting for hardiness as a standard practice in clinical trials could maximize the effectiveness of new treatments and provide insight into real-world efficacy. Quantifying the hardiness of trial participants compared to nonparticipants could assist in determining whether trial outcomes could be linked to an inherent level of personal hardiness and optimal outcomes that are less likely to transfer beyond the trial population. Personal hardiness as an unexplored component of the healthy volunteer effect clarifies the extent to which positive clinical trial outcomes are reproducible for the population. This may generate positive change for individual trial participants and the public, researchers, and the broader clinical research industry by addressing the issues of outcome generalizability and providing a mechanism by which that generalizability could be quantified and proactively addressed.

Conclusions

In this study, I examined the association between personal hardiness and willingness to participate in a clinical trial. I also examined the relationship between health status, health behaviors, social support, and willingness and assessed the moderation of any association by personal hardiness. The results addressed gaps in the healthy volunteer effect by indicating the extent to which personal hardiness was associated with individuals who were more willing to participate in clinical trials. This study's results align with previous research on personal hardiness and willingness to participate in a clinical trial and address a research gap by establishing an association between hardiness and willingness. I found conflicting associations between willingness and health behaviors with known relationships to personality, such as smoking. Additional research with a larger, global population should be conducted and include an expanded set of health behaviors and controls for behaviors closely related to personality. In addition, this research should be replicated in a real-world decision setting. Clinical trials are essential for developing new medicines, and in a postpandemic world, trials continue to drive innovations in medicines and health care. Understanding whether and why trial outcomes are not generalizable is essential. In the current study, I established an association between hardiness and willingness that could explain the lack of generalizability.

References

- Abdollahi, A., Panahipour, H., Hosseinian, S., & Allen, K. A. (2019). The effects of perceived stress on hope in women with breast cancer and the role of psychological hardiness. *Psycho-Oncology*, 28(7), 1477–1482. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.5102
- Abraham, M. B., Nicholas, J. A., Crone, M., Ly, T. T., Davis, E. A., & Jones, T. W. (2018). The importance of the Hawthorne effect on psychological outcomes unveiled in a randomized controlled trial of diabetes technology. *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology*, 12(3), 735–736.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1932296817747293

Ackerman, B., Lesko, C. R., Siddique, J., Susukida, R., & Stuart, E. A. (2021).
Generalizing randomized trial findings to a target population using complex survey population data. *Statistics in Medicine*, 40(5), 1101–1120.

https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.8822

- Ackerman, B., Schmid, I., Rudolph, K. E., Seamans, M. J., Susukida, R., Mojtabai,
 R., & Stuart, E. A. (2019). Implementing statistical methods for generalizing randomized trial findings to a target population. *Addictive Behaviors*, 94, 124–132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.10.033</u>
- Adair, J. G. (1984). The Hawthorne effect: A reconsideration of the methodological artifact. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 69(2), 334–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.69.2.334</u>

Allred, K. D., & Smith, T. W. (1989). The hardy personality: Cognitive and

physiological responses to evaluative threat. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *56*(2), 257–266. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> <u>3514.56.2.257</u>

American Cancer Society. (2020). *Clinical trials: What you need to know*. <u>https://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatments-and-side-effects/clinical-</u> <u>trials/what-you-need-to-know.html</u>

Antonovsky, A. (1979). Health, stress, and coping. Jossey-Bass.

- Arrowsmith, J. (2011). Phase II failures: 2008–2010. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 10(5), 328–329. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd3439</u>
- Arshi, S., Kalhornia Golkar, M., Ahadi, H., & Sedaghat, M. (2021). The role of selfefficacy, hardiness, and coping strategies in predicting self-care behaviors in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Preventive Care in Nursing and Midwifery Journal*, 11(4), 17–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.52547/pcnm.11.4.17</u>
- Aspinwall, L. G., & Tedeschi, R. G. (2010). The value of positive psychology for health psychology: Progress and pitfalls in examining the relation of positive phenomena to health. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 39(1), 4–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9153-0

Austin, M., Criqui, M. H., Barrett-Connor, E., & Holdbrook, M. J. (1981). The effect of response bias on the odds ratio. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 114(1), 137–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a113160</u>

Averitt, A. J., Weng, C., Ryan, P., & Perotte, A. (2020). Translating evidence into practice: Eligibility criteria fail to eliminate clinically significant differences between real-world and study populations. *NPJ Digital Medicine*, *3*(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-020-0277-8

Bahrami, M., Mohamadirizi, S., & Mohamadirizi, S. (2018). Hardiness and optimism in women with breast cancer. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, 23(2), 105–110.

https://doi.org/10.4103/ijnmr.IJNMR_200_16

- Baldassini Rodriguez, S., Bardacci, Y., el Aoufy, K., Bazzini, M., Caruso, C.,
 Giusti, G. D., Mezzetti, A., Bambi, S., Guazzini, A., & Rasero, L. (2022).
 Promoting and risk factors of nurses' hardiness levels during the COVID-19
 pandemic: Results from an Italian cohort. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(3), 1523.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031523
- Ball, C., McLaren, P. M., & Morrison, P. J. (1993). The personality structure of 'normal' volunteers. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, *36*(4), 369– 371. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2125.1993.tb00379.x
- Bartone, P. T. (1989). Predictors of stress-related illness in city bus drivers. Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 31(8), 657–663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00043764-198908000-00008</u>
- Bartone, P. T. (2007). Test-retest reliability of the Dispositional Resilience Scale-15, a brief hardiness scale. *Psychological Reports*, 101(3), 943–944. <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.101.3.943-944</u>
- Bartone, P. T. (2013). Cross-cultural adaptation of the DRS-15 Dispositional

Resilience Scale: A short hardiness measure. <u>http://www.hardiness-</u>resilience.com/docs/Crosscultural adaptation of DRS Fulbright.pdf

- Bartone, P. T., McDonald, K., Hansma, B. J., Stermac-Stein, J., Escobar, E. M. R., Stein, S. J., & Ryznar, R. (2022). Development and validation of an improved hardiness measure. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000709</u>
- Bell, C. R. (1961). Psychological versus sociological variables in studies of volunteer bias in surveys. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 45(2), 80–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0047011</u>
- Bentley, C., Cressman, S., van der Hoek, K., Arts, K., Dancey, J., & Peacock, S. (2019). Conducting clinical trials—costs, impacts, and the value of clinical trials networks: A scoping review. *Clinical Trials*, *16*(2), 183–193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1740774518820060</u>
- Bigbee, J. L. (1985). Hardiness: A new perspective in health promotion. *The Nurse Practitioner*, 10(11), 51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00006205-198511000-00006</u>
- Boniface, S., Scholes, S., Shelton, N., & Connor, J. (2017). Assessment of nonresponse bias in estimates of alcohol consumption: Applying the continuum of resistance model in a general population survey in England. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(1), e0170892. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0170892
- Bonovas, S., Filioussi, K., Tsantes, A., & Sitaras, N. M. (2007). Use of statins and risk of haematological malignancies: a meta-analysis of six randomized

clinical trials and eight observational studies. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 64(3), 255–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-</u>2125.2007.02959.x

- Bowsher, J. E., & Keep, D. (1995). Toward an understanding of three control constructs: personal control, self-efficacy, and hardiness. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 16(1), 33–50. https://doi.org/10.3109/01612849509042961
- Briel, M., Elger, B. S., McLennan, S., Schandelmaier, S., von Elm, E., & Satalkar,
 P. (2021). Exploring reasons for recruitment failure in clinical trials: A
 qualitative study with clinical trial stakeholders in Switzerland, Germany,
 and Canada. *Trials*, 22(1), 844. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-021-05818-0</u>
- Burke, V., Beilin, L. J., Cutt, H. E., Mansour, J., Williams, A., & Mori, T. A.
 (2007). A lifestyle program for treated hypertensives improved health-related behaviors and cardiovascular risk factors, a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *60*(2), 133–141.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006.05.012
- Burr, J. A., Han, S. H., & Tavares, J. L. (2016). Volunteering and cardiovascular disease risk: Does helping others get "under the skin? *The Gerontologist*, 56(5), 937–947. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnv032</u>
- Callahan, C. A., Hojat, M., & Gonnella, J. S. (2007). Volunteer bias in medical education research: An empirical study of over three decades of longitudinal data. *Medical Education*, 41(8), 746–753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2923.2007.02803.x</u>

- Carlucci, S., & McCuaig Edge, H. (2022). An exploratory analysis of hardiness and health behaviours in Canadian Armed Forces recruits. *Journal of Military, Veteran and Family Health*, 8(2), 94–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.3138/jmvfh-</u> 2021-0068
- Center for Information and Study on Clinical Research Participation. (2013). https://www.ciscrp.org/programs-events/research-and-studies/perceptionsand-insights
- Center for Information and Study on Clinical Research Participation. (2021). *Perceptions and Insights Report 2021*. <u>https://www.ciscrp.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/11/2021-PI-ALL.pdf</u>
- Choi, J.-S., Payne, T. J., Ma, J. Z., & Li, M. D. (2017). Relationship between personality traits and nicotine dependence in male and female smokers of African-American and European-American samples. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00122
- Church, T. R., Ederer, F., Mandel, J. S., Watt, G. D., & Geisser, M. S. (1993).
 Estimating the duration of ongoing prevention trials. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *137*(7), 797–810.

Collier, R. (2009). Rapidly rising clinical trial costs worry researchers. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 180(3), 277–278.

https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116740

https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.082041

Criqui, M. H., Austin, M., & Barrett-Connor, E. (1979). The effect of non-response

on risk ratios in a cardiovascular disease study. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, *32*(9–10), 633–638. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9681(79)90093-6</u>

- Croswell, J. M., Ransohoff, D. F., & Kramer, B. S. (2010). Principles of cancer screening: Lessons from history and study design issues. *Seminars in Oncology*, 37(3), 202–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2010.05.006</u>
- Czwikla, J., Giersiepen, K., Langner, I., Enders, D., Heinze, F., Rothgang, H., Haug, U., Zeeb, H., & Hense, H.W. (2018). A cohort study of mammography screening finds that comorbidity measures are insufficient for controlling selection bias. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *104*, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2018.07.014
- Czwikla, J., Herzberg, A., Kapp, S., Kloep, S., Rothgang, H., Nitschke, I., Haffner, C., & Hoffmann, F. (2022). Generalizability and reach of a randomized controlled trial to improve oral health among home care recipients: comparing participants and non-participants at baseline and during follow-up. *Trials*, *23*(1), 560. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-022-06470-y</u>
- del Aguila, M. A., Kressin, N., Foster, J. S., Ellersick, A., & Hujoel, P. (2004). Healthy volunteer bias in recruiting periodontitis patients by mail. In *Eighty Second International Association for Dental Research General Session*. <u>https://iadr.abstractarchives.com/abstract/2004Hawaii-42403/healthy-</u> <u>volunteer-bias-in-recruiting-periodontitis-patients-by-mail</u>
- Delgado-Rodriguez, M. (2004). Bias. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 58(8), 635–641. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2003.008466</u>

- DeNisco, S. (2011). Exploring the relationship between resilience and diabetes outcomes in African Americans. *Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners*, 23(11), 602–610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-</u> 7599.2011.00648.x
- Dewi, E. U., Nursalam, N., Mahmudah, M., Halawa, A., & Ayu, A. (2020). Factors affecting hardiness in cancer patients: A case study of the Indonesian Cancer Foundation. *Journal of Public Health Research*, 9(2), jphr.2020.1819. https://doi.org/10.4081/jphr.2020.1819
- DiMasi, J. (2001). Risks in new drug development: Approval success rates for investigational drugs. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 69(5), 297– 307. https://doi.org/10.1067/mcp.2001.115446
- DiMasi, J. A. (2002). The value of improving the productivity of the drug development process. *PharmacoEconomics*, 20(Supplement 3), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.2165/00019053-200220003-00001</u>
- Dohrenwend, B. S., & Dohrenwend, B. P. (1974). A brief historical introduction to research on stressful life events. In B. S. Dohrenwend & B. P. Dohrenwend (Eds.), *Stressful life events: Their nature and effects*.
- Dolbier, C. L., Cocke, R. R., Leiferman, J. A., Steinhardt, M. A., Schapiro, S. J., Nehete, P. N., Perlman, J. E., & Sastry, J. (2001). Differences in functional immune responses of high vs. low hardy healthy individuals. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 24(3), 219–229.

https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1010762606006

- Dorado, K., Lazaridou, A., Buliteanu, A., Galenkamp, L., Schreiber, K., & Edwards,
 R. (2018). The relationship between mindfulness, catastrophizing, and
 chronic pain in fibromyalgia patients. *The Journal of Pain*, *19*(3), S30.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2017.12.074
- Dowden, H., & Munro, J. (2019). Trends in clinical success rates and therapeutic focus. *Nature*, 18, 495–496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/d41573-019-00074-z</u>
- Dyer, J. G., & McGuinness, T. M. (1996). Resilience: Analysis of the concept. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, 10(5), 276–282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0883-9417(96)80036-7</u>
- Ederer, F., Church, T. R., & Mandel, J. S. (1993). Sample sizes for prevention trials have been too small. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 137(7), 787–796. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116739</u>
- Edgerton, H. A., Britt, S. H., & Norman, R. D. (1947). Objective differences among various types of respondents to a mailed questionnaire. *American Sociological Review*, 12(4), 435. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2087289</u>
- Eichler, H.G., & Sweeney, F. (2018). The evolution of clinical trials: Can we address the challenges of the future? *Clinical Trials*, *15*(1_suppl), 27–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1740774518755058</u>

Ellis, P. M., Butow, P. N., Tattersall, M. H. N., Dunn, S. M., & Houssami, N. (2001). Randomized clinical trials in oncology: understanding and attitudes predict willingness to participate. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *19*(15), 3554–3561. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2001.19.15.3554</u>
- Elston, D. M. (2021a). The Hawthorne effect. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2021.01.085</u>
- Elston, D. M. (2021b). Participation bias, self-selection bias, and response bias. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2021.06.025
- Elting, L. S., Cooksley, C., Bekele, B. N., Frumovitz, M., Avritscher, E. B., Sun, C., & Bodurka, D. C. (2006). Generalizability of cancer clinical trial results. *Cancer*, *106*(11), 2452–2458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.21907</u>
- Engel, J. H., Siewerdt, F., Jackson, R., Akobundu, U., Wait, C., & Sahyoun, N.
 (2011). Hardiness, depression, and emotional well-being and their association with appetite in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 59(3), 482–487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.03274.x</u>
- English, R. A., Lebovitz, Y., Giffin, R. B., & Institute of Medicine (U.S.). Forum on Drug Discovery, Development, and Translation. (2010). *Transforming clinical research in the United States : Challenges and opportunities : workshop summary*. National Academies Press.

https://doi.org/10.17226/12900

Firat, M., Demir Gökmen, B., & Karakurt, P. (2022). An investigation of smoking habits and mental well-being in healthcare personnel during COVID-19. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 58(1), 108–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ppc.12819</u>

Fisher, J. A., McManus, L., Wood, M. M., Cottingham, M. D., Kalbaugh, J. M.,

Monahan, T., & Walker, R. L. (2018). Healthy volunteers' perceptions of the benefits of their participation in Phase I clinical trials. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, *13*(5), 494–510.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264618804962

Fleming, S. (2019). Drug prices and innovation. In Forbes.

https://www.forbes.com/sites/stanfleming/2019/06/20/the-relationshipbetween-drug-prices-and-innovation/?sh=34e4162a4b11

- Florian, V., Mikulincer, M., & Taubman, O. (1995). Does hardiness contribute to mental health during a stressful real-life situation? The roles of appraisal and coping. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 68(4), 687–695. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.68.4.687</u>
- Fogel, D. B. (2018). Factors associated with clinical trials that fail and opportunities for improving the likelihood of success: A review. *Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications*, 11, 156–164.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conctc.2018.08.001

- Food and Drug Administration. (2017). *The FDA's drug review process: Ensuring drugs are safe and effective*. <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/information-</u> <u>consumers-and-patients-drugs/fdas-drug-review-process-ensuring-drugs-are-</u> <u>safe-and-effective</u>
- Foy, M., Chen, X., Kimmel, M., & Gorlova, O. Y. (2011). Adjusting a cancer mortality-prediction model for disease status-related eligibility criteria. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 11(1), 64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-</u>

2288-11-64

- Froom, P., Melamed, S., Kristal-Boneh, E., Benbassat, J., & Ribak, J. (1999).
 Healthy volunteer effect in industrial workers. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *52*(8), 731–735. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-4356(99)00070-0</u>
- Fry, A., Littlejohns, T. J., Sudlow, C., Doherty, N., Adamska, L., Sprosen, T., Collins, R., & Allen, N. E. (2017). Comparison of sociodemographic and health-related characteristics of UK Biobank participants with those of the general population. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 186(9), 1026–1034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx246</u>
- Funk, S. C. (1992). Hardiness: A review of theory and research. *Health Psychology*, *11*(5), 335–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.11.5.335</u>
- Funk, S. C., & Houston, B. K. (1987). A critical analysis of the Hardiness Scale's validity and utility. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 53(3), 572–578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.53.3.572</u>
- Ganellen, R. J., & Blaney, P. H. (1984). Hardiness and social support as moderators of the effects of life stress. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 47(1), 156–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.47.1.156</u>
- Garrison, L. P., Neumann, P. J., Erickson, P., Marshall, D., & Mullins, C. D. (2007).
 Using real-world data for coverage and payment decisions: The ISPOR Real-World Data Task Force Report. *Value in Health*, *10*(5), 326–335.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-4733.2007.00186.x

Ginossar, T., Diaz Fuentes, C., & Oetzel, J. (2022). Understanding willingness to participate in cancer clinical trials among patients and caregivers attending a minority-serving academic cancer center. *Journal of Cancer Education*, 37(1), 179–187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13187-020-01802-5</u>

Gorelick, P. B., & Sorond, F. (2020). Cognitive function in SPRINT: Where do we go next? *The Lancet Neurology*, *19*(11), 880–881. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(20)30356-2</u>

- Gresham, G., Meinert, J. L., Gresham, A. G., & Meinert, C. L. (2020). Assessment of trends in the design, accrual, and completion of trials registered in Clinicaltrials.Gov by sponsor type, 2000-2019. *JAMA Network Open*, 3(8), e2014682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.14682</u>
- Guerra, C. E., Fleury, M. E., Byatt, L. P., Lian, T., & Pierce, L. (2022). Strategies to advance equity in cancer clinical trials. *American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book*, 42, 127–137.
 https://doi.org/10.1200/EDBK_350565
- Gunderson, E. K., & Rahe, R. H. (1974). *Life stress and illness*. Charles C. Thomas Pub
- Hannah, T. E. (1988). Hardiness and health behavior: The role of health concern as a moderator variable. *Behavioral Medicine*, 14(2), 59–63. https://doi.org/10.1080/08964289.1988.9935125
- Hara, M., Sasaki, S., Sobue, T., Yamamoto, S., & Tsugane, S. (2002). Comparison of cause-specific mortality between respondents and nonrespondents in a

population-based prospective study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 55(2), 150–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-4356(01)00431-0

Harper, M. (2013). The cost of creating a new drug now 5 billion, pushing big pharma to change. In *Forbes*.

http://www.forbes.com/sites/matthewherper/2013/08/11/how-the-staggeringcost-of-inventing-new-drugs-is-shaping-the-future-of-medicine

Harper, M. (2017). The cost of developing drugs is insane. That paper that says otherwise is insanely bad. In *Forbes*.

https://www.forbes.com/sites/matthewherper/2017/10/16/the-cost-ofdeveloping-drugs-is-insane-a-paper-that-argued-otherwise-was-insanelybad/?sh=4b4413562d45

- Harrison, R. A., Anderson, M. D., Cachia, D., Kamiya-Matsuoka, C., Weathers,
 S.P., O'Brien, B. J., Penas-Prado, M., Yung, W. K., Wu, J., Yuan, Y., & de
 Groot, J. F. (2019). Clinical trial participation of patients with glioblastoma at The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center. *European Journal of Cancer*, *112*, 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2019.02.007
- Hakulinen, C., Hintsanen, M., Munafò, M., Virtanen, M., Kivimäki, M., Batty, G.,
 & Jokela, M. (2015). Personality and smoking: Individual-participant metaanalysis of nine cohort studies. *Addiction*, *110*(11), 1844–1852.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13079
- He, Z., Tang, X., Yang, X., Guo, Y., George, T. J., Charness, N., Quan Hem, K. B.,Hogan, W., & Bian, J. (2020). Clinical trial generalizability assessment in

the big data era: A review. *Clinical and Translational Science*, *13*(4), 675–684. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cts.12764</u>

- Hestbech, M. S., Siersma, V., Dirksen, A., Pedersen, J. H., & Brodersen, J. (2011).
 Participation bias in a randomised trial of screening for lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*, 73(3), 325–331. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2010.12.018</u>
- Hillyer, G., Beauchemin, M., Hershman, D. L., Kelsen, M. A., Brogan, F. L., Sandoval, R., Schmitt, K. M., Reyes, A., Terry, M. B., Lassman, A. B., & Schwartz, G. K. (2019). Comparison of attitudes and beliefs about cancer clinical trial enrollment between physicians, research staff, and cancer patients. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *37*(27_suppl), 170–170. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2019.37.27_suppl.170
- Hull, J. G., van Treuren, R. R., & Virnelli, S. (1987). Hardiness and health: A critique and alternative approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *53*(3), 518–530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.53.3.518</u>
- Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Assessing Interactions Among Social,
 Behavioral, Genetic Factors in Health. (2006). *The impact of social and cultural environment on health* (L. M. Hernandez & D. G. Blazer, Eds.).
 National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/11693</u>
- James, D. (2021). Hardiness and attitudes toward professional healthcare services: Implications for healthcare service utilization among Black American adults. *Health Psychology Open*, 8(2), 205510292110291. https://doi.org/10.1177/20551029211029157

Jensen, H. A., Lau, C. J., Davidsen, M., Feveile, H. B., Christensen, A. I., &

Ekholm, O. (2022). The impact of non-response weighting in health surveys for estimates on primary health care utilization. *European Journal of Public Health*, *32*(3), 450–455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckac032</u>

- Jiang, S., & Hong, Y. A. (2021). Clinical trial participation in America: The roles of eHealth engagement and patient–provider communication. *Digital Health*, 7, 205520762110676. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/20552076211067658</u>
- Jones, J. (1996). The effects of non-response on statistical inference. *Journal of Health & Social Policy*, 8(1), 49–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J045v08n01_05</u>
- Jordan, S., Watkins, A., Storey, M., Allen, S. J., Brooks, C. J., Garaiova, I., Heaven, M. L., Jones, R., Plummer, S. F., Russell, I. T., Thornton, C. A., & Morgan, G. (2013). Volunteer bias in recruitment, retention, and blood sample donation in a randomised controlled trial involving mothers and their children at six months and two years: A longitudinal analysis. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(7), e67912. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0067912
- Kang, W. (2022). Personality predicts smoking frequency: An empirical examination separated by sex. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 199, 111843. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2022.111843</u>

Karampatakis, D., Kakavouti-Doudos, A., Oikonomidis, P., & Voultsos, P. (2021).
Translation and validation of the Greek version of a questionnaire measuring patient views on participation in clinical trials. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1), 1135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-07111-x</u>

Kemeny, M. M., Peterson, B. L., Kornblith, A. B., Muss, H. B., Wheeler, J., Levine,
E., Bartlett, N., Fleming, G., & Cohen, H. J. (2003). Barriers to clinical trial participation by older women with breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *21*(12), 2268–2275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2003.09.124</u>

Khera, N., Majhail, N. S., Brazauskas, R., Wang, Z., He, N., Aljurf, M. D., Akpek, G., Atsuta, Y., Beattie, S., Bredeson, C. N., Burns, L. J., Dalal, J. D., Freytes, C. O., Gupta, V., Inamoto, Y., Lazarus, H. M., LeMaistre, C. F., Steinberg, A., Szwajcer, D., ... Lee, S. J. (2015). Comparison of characteristics and outcomes of trial participants and non-participants: Example of blood and marrow transplant clinical trials network 0201 Trial. *Biology of Blood and Marrow Transplantation*, *21*(10), 1815–1822.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2015.06.004

Kjellman, A., Akre, O., Norming, U., Törnblom, M., & Gustafsson, O. (2009). 15-Year follow-up of a population based prostate cancer screening study. *Journal of Urology*, 181(4), 1615–1621.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2008.11.115

- Kobasa, S. C. (1979). Stressful life events, personality, and health: An inquiry into hardiness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 37(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.37.1.1</u>
- Kobasa, S. C., Maddi, S. R., & Courington, S. (1981). Personality and constitution as mediators in the stress-illness relationship. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 22(4), 368. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2136678</u>

- Kobasa, S. C., Maddi, S. R., & Kahn, S. (1982). Hardiness and health: A prospective study. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 42(1), 168–177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.42.1.168</u>
- Kobasa, S. C., Maddi, S. R., & Puccetti, M. C. (1982). Personality and exercise as buffers in the stress-illness relationship. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 5(4), 391–404. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00845369</u>
- Kobasa, S. C., Maddi, S. R., Puccetti, M. C., & Zola, M. A. (1985). Effectiveness of hardiness, exercise and social support as resources against illness. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 29(5), 525–533. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-3999(85)90086-8</u>
- Kobasa, S. C., Maddi, S. R., & Zola, M. A. (1983). Type A and hardiness. *Journal* of Behavioral Medicine, 6(1), 41–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00845275</u>
- Kobasa, S. C., & Puccetti, M. C. (1983). Personality and social resources in stress resistance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 45(4), 839–850. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.45.4.839
- Kowalski, C. M., & Schermer, J. A. (2019). Hardiness, perseverative cognition, anxiety, and health-related outcomes: A case for and against psychological hardiness. *Psychological Reports*, *122*(6), 2096–2118. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294118800444
- Krauss, A. (2018). Why all randomised controlled trials produce biased results. Annals of Medicine, 50(4), 312–322.

https://doi.org/10.1080/07853890.2018.1453233

- Kreiger, N., & Nishri, E. D. (1997). The effect of nonresponse on estimation of relative risk in a case-control study. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 7(3), 194–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1047-2797(97)00013-6</u>
- Krumholz, H. (2021, April 21). *How generalizable are randomized, controlled trials?* NEJM Journal Watch.

https://www.jwatch.org/na53469/2021/04/21/how-generalizable-arerandomized-controlled-trials

Lamberti, M. J., Smith, Z., Henry, R., Howe, D., Goodwin, M., Williams, A., & Getz, K. (2021). Benchmarking patient recruitment and retention practices. *Therapeutic Innovation & Regulatory Science*, 55(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43441-020-00186-4

Lara, P. N., Higdon, R., Lim, N., Kwan, K., Tanaka, M., Lau, D. H. M., Wun, T., Welborn, J., Meyers, F. J., Christensen, S., O'Donnell, R., Richman, C., Scudder, S. A., Tuscano, J., Gandara, D. R., & Lam, K. S. (2001).
Prospective evaluation of cancer clinical trial accrual patterns: Identifying potential barriers to enrollment. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *19*(6), 1728– 1733. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2001.19.6.1728

Lasagna, L., & von Felsinger, J. M. (1954). The volunteer subject in research. Science, 120(3114), 359–361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.120.3114.359</u>

Leening, M. J. G., Heeringa, J., Deckers, J. W., Franco, O. H., Hofman, A., Witteman, J. C. M., & Stricker, B. H. Ch. (2014). Healthy volunteer effect and cardiovascular risk. *Epidemiology*, 25(3), 470–471. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.000000000000001

- Lindsted, K. D., Fraser, G. E., Steinkohl, M., & Beeson, W. L. (1996). Healthy volunteer effect in a cohort study: Temporal resolution in the Adventist health study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *49*(7), 783–790. https://doi.org/10.1016/0895-4356(96)00009-1
- Livingstone, W., van de Mortel, T. F., & Taylor, B. (2011). A path of perpetual resilience: Exploring the experience of a diabetes-related amputation through grounded theory. *Contemporary Nurse*, 39(1), 20–30. https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.2011.39.1.20
- Lloyd, I. (2019). Pharma R&D Annual Review 2019. In *Informa*. <u>https://informaconnect.com/pharma-r-d-annual-review-2019/</u>
- Locke, H. J. (1954). Are volunteer interviewees representative? *Social Problems*, *1*(4), 143–146. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/799386</u>
- Luceño-Moreno, L., Talavera-Velasco, B., Jaén-Díaz, M., & Martín-García, J.
 (2020). Hardy personality assessment: Validating the Occupational Hardiness Questionnaire in police officers. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 51(3), 297–303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pro0000285</u>

Ludmir, E. B., Mainwaring, W., Lin, T. A., Miller, A. B., Jethanandani, A.,
Espinoza, A. F., Mandel, J. J., Lin, S. H., Smith, B. D., Smith, G. L.,
VanderWalde, N. A., Minsky, B. D., Koong, A. C., Stinchcombe, T. E.,
Jagsi, R., Gomez, D. R., Thomas, C. R., & Fuller, C. D. (2019). Factors
Associated with age disparities among cancer clinical trial participants.

JAMA Oncology, 5(12), 1769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.2055</u>

- Maddi, S. (2013). Personal hardiness as the basis for resilience. In *Hardiness* (pp. 7– 17). Springer Briefs. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-5222-1_2</u>
- Maddi, S., & Kobasa, S. (1986). The hardy executive: Health under stress. Journal of Nutrition Education, 18(2), S76–S77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-</u> <u>3182(86)80108-X</u>
- Maddi, S. R. (1999a). Comments on trends in hardiness research and theorizing.
 Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice and Research, 51(2), 67–71.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/1061-4087.51.2.67
- Maddi, S. R. (1999b). The personality construct of hardiness: I. Effects on experiencing, coping, and strain. *Consulting Psychology Journal: Practice* and Research, 51(2), 83–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1061-4087.51.2.83</u>
- Maddi, S. R. (2006). Hardiness: The courage to grow from stresses. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *1*(3), 160–168.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760600619609

- Maddi, S. R., Harvey, R. H., Khoshaba, D. M., Fazel, M., & Resurreccion, N.
 (2009). The personality construct of hardiness, IV. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 49(3), 292–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022167809331860</u>
- Malmivaara, A. (2019). Generalizability of findings from randomized controlled trials is limited in the leading general medical journals. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 107, 36–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2018.11.014</u>

Manning, M. R., Williams, R. F., & Wolfe, D. M. (1988). Hardiness and the

relationship between stressors and outcomes. *Work & Stress*, 2(3), 205–216. https://doi.org/10.1080/02678378808259168

- Markovic, G., Schult, M.L., & Bartfai, A. (2017). The effect of sampling bias on generalizability in intervention trials after brain injury. *Brain Injury*, 31(1), 9–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699052.2016.1206213</u>
- Martin, L., Hutchens, M., & Hawkins, C. (2017). Clinical trial cycle times continue to increase despite industry efforts. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 16(3), 157–157. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2017.21
- Mattson, M. E., Curb, J. D., & McArdle, R. (1985). Participation in a clinical trial: The patients' point of view. *Controlled Clinical Trials*, 6(2), 156–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/0197-2456(85)90121-7
- Munafò, M., Zetteler, J., & Clark, T. (2007). Personality and smoking status: A meta-analysis. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 9(3), 405–413. https://doi.org/10.1080/14622200701188851
- McCambridge, J., Witton, J., & Elbourne, D. R. (2014). Systematic review of the Hawthorne effect: New concepts are needed to study research participation effects. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 67(3), 267–277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.08.015</u>

McCarney, R., Warner, J., Iliffe, S., van Haselen, R., Griffin, M., & Fisher, P.
(2007). The Hawthorne Effect: A randomised, controlled trial. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 7(1), 30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-7-30</u>

Melton, L. J., Dyck, P. J., Karnes, J. L., O'Brien, P. C., & Service, F. J. (1993).

Non-response bias in studies of diabetic complications: The Rochester diabetic neuropathy study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *46*(4), 341–348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0895-4356(93)90148-T</u>

- Mills, E. J., Seely, D., Rachlis, B., Griffith, L., Wu, P., Wilson, K., Ellis, P., & Wright, J. R. (2006). Barriers to participation in clinical trials of cancer: a meta-analysis and systematic review of patient-reported factors. *The Lancet Oncology*, 7(2), 141–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(06)70576-9</u>
- Mölenberg, F. J. M., de Vries, C., Burdorf, A., & van Lenthe, F. J. (2021). A framework for exploring non-response patterns over time in health surveys. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 21(1), 37.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-021-01221-0

- Moorcraft, S. Y., Marriott, C., Peckitt, C., Cunningham, D., Chau, I., Starling, N., Watkins, D., & Rao, S. (2016). Patients' willingness to participate in clinical trials and their views on aspects of cancer research: results of a prospective patient survey. *Trials*, 17(1), 17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-015-1105-3
- Moore, T. J., Heyward, J., Anderson, G., & Alexander, G. C. (2020). Variation in the estimated costs of pivotal clinical benefit trials supporting the US approval of new therapeutic agents, 2015–2017: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, *10*(6), e038863. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-038863</u>
- Murthy, V. H., Krumholz, H. M., & Gross, C. P. (2004). Participation in cancer clinical trials. *JAMA*, 291(22), 2720.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.22.2720

- Nagy, S., & Nix, C. L. (1989). Relations between preventive health behavior and hardiness. *Psychological Reports*, 65(1), 339–345. https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1989.65.1.339
- Nakamura, T., & Tsuchiya, H. (2020). Association of hardiness and social support with posttraumatic growth following athletic injuries. *International Journal of Sport and Health Science*, *18*(0), 28–38.

https://doi.org/10.5432/ijshs.201910

National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Division of Public Health. (2014). *About BRFSS*.

https://www.cdc.gov/brfss/about/index.htm

National Library of Medicine. (2019). *Reasons for conducting clinical trials*. <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/about-studies/learn#ReasonsForConducting</u>

National Library of Medicine. (2022). ClinicalTrials.gov Homepage.

https://clinicaltrials.gov

Ndlovu, V., & Ferreira, N. (2019). Students' psychological hardiness in relation to career adaptability. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, *29*(6), 598–604.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2019.1689468

Nowack, K. M. (1989). Coping style, cognitive hardiness, and health status. *Journal* of Behavioral Medicine, 12(2), 145–158.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00846548

O'Keeffe, L. M., Taylor, G., Huxley, R. R., Mitchell, P., Woodward, M., & Peters, S. A. E. (2018). Smoking as a risk factor for lung cancer in women and men:

a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*, 8(10), e021611. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-021611

- Okun, M. A., Zautra, A. J., & Robinson, S. E. (1988). Hardiness and health among women with rheumatoid arthritis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 9(1), 101–107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0191-8869(88)90035-9</u>
- Olsen, L., DePalma, L., & Evans, J. H. (2020). Self-interested and altruistic motivations in volunteering for clinical trials: A more complex relationship. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 15(5), 443–451. https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264620914463
- Paci, E., & Alexander, F. E. (1997). Study design of randomized controlled clinical trials of breast cancer screening. JNCI Monographs, 1997(22), 21–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jncimono/1997.22.21</u>
- Pandey, D., & Shrivastava, P. (2017). Mediation effect of social support on the association between hardiness and immune response. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, 26, 52–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2017.01.022</u>
- Parelkar, P., Thompson, N. J., Kaw, C. K., Miner, K. R., & Stein, K. D. (2013).
 Stress coping and changes in health behavior among cancer survivors: A report from the American Cancer Society's study of cancer survivors-II (SCS-II). *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, *31*(2), 136–152.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/07347332.2012.761322
- Peppercorn, J. M., Weeks, J. C., Cook, E. F., & Joffe, S. (2004). Comparison of outcomes in cancer patients treated within and outside clinical trials:

conceptual framework and structured review. *The Lancet*, *363*(9405), 263–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)15383-4

Pierannunzi, C., Xu, F., Wallace, R. C., Garvin, W., Greenlund, K. J., Bartoli, W., Ford, D., Eke, P., & Town, G. M. (2016). A methodological approach to small area estimation for the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 13, 150480.

https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd13.150480

Pinsky, P. F., Black, A., Parnes, H. L., Grubb, R., David Crawford, E., Miller, A., Reding, D., & Andriole, G. (2012). Prostate cancer specific survival in the prostate, lung, colorectal, and ovarian (PLCO) cancer screening trial. *Cancer Epidemiology*, 36(6), e401–e406.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canep.2012.08.008

Pinsky, P., Miller, A., Kramer, B., Church, T., Reding, D., Prorok, P., Gelmann, E., Schoen, R., Buys, S., Hayes, R., & Berg, C. (2007). Evidence of a healthy volunteer effect in the prostate, lung, colorectal, and ovarian cancer screening trial. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *165*(8), 874–881. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwk075

Realo, A., van Middendorp, H., Kööts-Ausmees, L., Allik, J., & Evers, A. W. M. (2018). Role of personality traits in reporting the development of adverse drug reactions: a prospective cohort study of the Estonian general population. *BMJ Open*, 8(7), e022428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-022428</u>

Reichmann, F., & Holzer, P. (2016). Neuropeptide Y: A stressful review.

Neuropeptides, 55, 99-109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npep.2015.09.008

- Richards, T. W. (1960). Personality of subjects who volunteer for research on a drug (Mescaline). *Journal of Projective Techniques*, 24(4), 424–428. https://doi.org/10.1080/08853126.1960.10380991
- Richiardi, L., Boffetta, P., & Merletti, F. (2002). Analysis of nonresponse bias in a population-based case–control study on lung cancer. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *55*(10), 1033–1040. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-4356(02)00455-9</u>
- Robinson, S. R. (2013). Assessing the relationship of health locus of control, hardiness, and health risks in African American [Doctoral dissertation, Central Michigan University]. Central Michigan University Scholarly and Creative Works.
- Rosenthal, R. (1965). The volunteer subject. *Human Relations*, *18*(4), 389–406. https://doi.org/10.1177/001872676501800407
- Ross, S., Grant, A., Counsell, C., Gillespie, W., Russell, I., & Prescott, R. (1999).
 Barriers to participation in randomised controlled trials. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *52*(12), 1143–1156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0895-4356(99)00141-9</u>
- Sadeghpour, M., Fereydooni-Moghadam, M., & Namnabati, M. (2021). The impact of Kobasa and Maddi hardiness model on stress and hardiness of Iranian pediatric nurses: A clinical trial study. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and*

Midwifery Research, *26*(1), 42.

https://doi.org/10.4103/ijnmr.IJNMR 128 20

- Samoilov, N. G., & Aleshicheva, A. v. (2022). Correlation between hardiness and negative personal states in athletic activities. *Sport Sciences for Health*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11332-022-00943-y</u>
- Sandvik, A. M., Bartone, P. T., Hystad, S. W., Phillips, T. M., Thayer, J. F., & Johnsen, B. H. (2013). Psychological hardiness predicts neuroimmunological responses to stress. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, *18*(6), 705–713. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2013.772304
- Sandvik, A. M., Gjevestad, E., Aabrekk, E., Øhman, P., Kjendlie, P.-L., Hystad, S. W., Bartone, P. T., Hansen, A. L., & Johnsen, B. H. (2020). Physical fitness and psychological hardiness as predictors of parasympathetic control in response to stress: A Norwegian police simulator training study. *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, 35(4), 504–517.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11896-019-09323-8

- Scheier, M. F., & Carver, C. S. (1985). Optimism, coping, and health: Assessment and implications of generalized outcome expectancies. *Health Psychology*, 4(3), 219–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.4.3.219</u>
- Schieve, L. A., Harris, S., Maenner, M. J., Alexander, A., & Dowling, N. F. (2018). Assessment of demographic and perinatal predictors of non-response and impact of non-response on measures of association in a population-based case control study: findings from the Georgia Study to Explore Early

Development. *Emerging Themes in Epidemiology*, *15*(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12982-018-0081-y

- Schutta, K. M., & Burnett, C. B. (2000). Factors that influence a patient's decision to participate in a phase I cancer clinical trial. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 27(9), 1435–1438.
- Scott, C., Walker, J., White, P., & Lewith, G. (2011). Forging convictions: The effects of active participation in a clinical trial. *Social Science & Medicine*, 72(12), 2041–2048. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.04.021</u>
- Sebatta, D. E., Siu, G., Nabeta, H. W., Anguzu, G., Walimbwa, S., Lamorde, M.,
 Bukenya, B., & Kambugu, A. (2020). "You would not be in a hurry to go back home": Patients' willingness to participate in HIV/AIDS clinical trials at a clinical and research facility in Kampala, Uganda. *BMC Medical Ethics*, 21(1), 77. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-020-00516-z
- Sedgwick, P. (2015). Bias in observational study designs: cross sectional studies. *BMJ*, 350(mar06 3), h1286–h1286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.h1286</u>
- Sine, S., de Bruin, A., & Getz, K. (2021). Patient engagement initiatives in clinical trials: Recent trends and implications. *Therapeutic Innovation & Regulatory Science*, 55(5), 1059–1065. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s43441-021-00306-8</u>
- Soderstrom, M., Dolbier, C., Leiferman, J., & Steinhardt, M. (2000). The relationship of hardiness, coping strategies, and perceived stress to symptoms of illness. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 23(3), 311–328. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1005514310142

Steering Committee of the Physicians' Health Study Research Group. (1989). *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *321*, 129–135.

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198907203210301

- Stempel, D. (2017). New Tufts Research Explores Barriers to Clinical Trial Recruitment Success. <u>https://www.patientcentra.com/patient-recruitment-</u> insights/tufts-research-barriers-clinical-trial-recruitment-success
- Struijk, E. A., May, A. M., Beulens, J. W. J., van Gils, C. H., Monninkhof, E. M., van der Schouw, Y. T., Verschuren, M. W. M., Boer, J. M. A., Bueno-de-Mesquita, B. H., & Peeters, P. H. M. (2015). Mortality and cancer incidence in the EPIC-NL cohort: Impact of the healthy volunteer effect. *The European Journal of Public Health*, 25(1), 144–149.

https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/cku045

Stuart, E. A., & Rhodes, A. (2017). Generalizing treatment effect estimates from sample to population: A case study in the difficulties of finding sufficient data. *Evaluation Review*, 41(4), 357–388.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0193841X16660663

- Stunkel, L., & Grady, C. (2011). More than the money: A review of the literature examining healthy volunteer motivations. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 32(3), 342–352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2010.12.003</u>
- Sun, Z., Gilbert, L., Ciampi, A., & Basso, O. (2017). Recruitment challenges in clinical research: Survey of potential participants in a diagnostic study of ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology*, 146(3), 470–476.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.06.021

- Tabár, L., Dean, P. B., Chen, T. H., Yen, A. M., Chen, S. L., Fann, J. C., Chiu, S. Y., Ku, M. M., Wu, W. Y., Hsu, C., Chen, Y., Beckmann, K., Smith, R. A., & Duffy, S. W. (2019). The incidence of fatal breast cancer measures the increased effectiveness of therapy in women participating in mammography screening. *Cancer*, *125*(4), 515–523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31840</u>
- Tang, M., Lee, C. K., Lewis, C. R., Boyer, M., Brown, B., Schaffer, A., Pearson, S.-A., & Simes, R. J. (2022). Generalizability of immune checkpoint inhibitor trials to real-world patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*, *166*, 40–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2022.01.024</u>
- Tartasky, D. S. (1993). Hardiness: Conceptual and methodological issues. *Image: The Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 25(3), 225–229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.1993.tb00786.x</u>
- Thomson, C. A., Harris, R. B., Craft, N. E., & Hakim, I. A. (2005). A crosssectional analysis demonstrated the healthy volunteer effect in smokers. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 58(4), 378–382.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2004.10.013

Tlimat, A., Adeoye, O., Kats, D. J., & Tarabichi, Y. (2020). Could patients at a safety-net healthcare systems be too sick to be screened for lung cancer? *C73. Thoracic Oncology: Optimizing Lung Cancer Screening, Diagnosis, and Surgery*, A5933–A5933. <u>https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm-</u> conference.2020.201.1 MeetingAbstracts.A5933

- Tromp, D. M., Brouha, X. D. R., de Leeuw, J. R. J., Hordijk, G. J., & Winnubst, J.
 A. M. (2004). Psychological factors and patient delay in patients with head and neck cancer. *European Journal of Cancer*, 40(10), 1509–1516.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2004.03.009
- Truong, T. H., Weeks, J. C., Cook, E. F., & Joffe, S. (2011). Altruism among participants in cancer clinical trials. *Clinical Trials*, 8(5), 616–623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1740774511414444</u>
- Tufts Center for the Study of Drug Development. (2021). Rising protocol design complexity is driving rapid growth in clinical trial data volume. *Impact Report*, 23(3). <u>http://csdd.tufts.edu/impact-reports</u>
- Unger, J. M., Cook, E., Tai, E., & Bleyer, A. (2016). The role of clinical trial participation in cancer research: Barriers, evidence, and strategies. *American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book*, 36, 185–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/EDBK_156686</u>
- Unger, J. M., Hershman, D. L., Fleury, M. E., & Vaidya, R. (2019). Association of patient comorbid conditions with cancer clinical trial participation. *JAMA Oncology*, 5(3), 326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.5953</u>

Unger, J. M., Vaidya, R., Hershman, D. L., Minasian, L. M., & Fleury, M. E. (2019). Systematic review and meta-analysis of the magnitude of structural, clinical, and physician and patient barriers to cancer clinical trial participation. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *111*(3), 245– 255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djy221</u> U.S. Census Bureau. (2022). U.S. and world population clock.

https://www.census.gov/popclock/

van Heuvelen, M. J., Hochstenbach, J. B., Brouwer, W. H., de Greef, M. H, Zijlstra, G. A., van Jaarsveld, E., Kempen, G. I., van Sonderen, E., Ormel, J., & Mulder, T. (2005). Differences between participants and non-participants in an RCT on physical activity and psychological interventions for older persons. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research*, *17*(3), 236–245. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03324603

- van Norman, G. A. (2019). Phase II trials in drug development and adaptive trial design. JACC: Basic to Translational Science, 4(3), 428–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacbts.2019.02.005
- Vehmas, T., & Oksa, P. (2015). Healthy volunteer effect in a lung cancer screening study. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 24(5), 454.

https://doi.org/10.1097/CEJ.00000000000110

- Verheggen, F. W. S. M., Nieman, F., & Jonkers, R. (1998). Determinants of patient participation in clinical studies requiring informed consent: Why patients enter a clinical trial. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 35(2), 111–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0738-3991(98)00060-3</u>
- Vineis, P. (1998). Bias and confounding in molecular epidemiological studies: special considerations. *Carcinogenesis*, 19(12), 2063–2067. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/19.12.2063</u>

Wadey, R., Evans, L., Hanton, S., & Neil, R. (2012). An examination of hardiness

throughout the sport injury process. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, *17*(1), 103–128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8287.2011.02025.x</u>

Walker-Clarke, A., Walasek, L., & Meyer, C. (2022). Psychosocial factors influencing the eating behaviours of older adults: A systematic review. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 77, 101597.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2022.101597

- Wallin, P. (1949). Volunteer subjects as a source of sampling bias. American Journal of Sociology, 54(6), 539–544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/220418</u>
- Wei, Y., Li, H., Wang, H., Zhang, S., & Sun, Y. (2018). Psychological status of volunteers in a phase I clinical trial assessed by symptom checklist 90 (SCL-90) and Eysenck personality questionnaire (EPQ). *Medical Science Monitor*, 24, 4968–4973. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.909524
- Weiss, M. J. (2002). Hardiness and social support as predictors of stress in mothers of typical children, children with autism, and children with mental retardation. *Autism*, 6(1), 115–130.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361302006001009

Weller, C. D., Richards, C., Turnour, L., & Team, V. (2020). Rationale for participation in venous leg ulcer clinical research: Patient interview study. *International Wound Journal*, 17(6), 1624–1633.

https://doi.org/10.1111/iwj.13438

Wenzel, L., Glanz, K., & Lerman, C. (2008). Stress, coping and health behavior. InK. Glanz, F. M. Lewis, & B. K. Rimer (Eds.), *Health Behavior and Health*

Education: Theory, Research and Practice (3rd ed., pp. 210–239). Jossey-Bass.

- West, C., Stewart, L., Foster, K., & Usher, K. (2012). The meaning of resilience to persons living with chronic pain: an interpretive qualitative inquiry. *Journal* of Clinical Nursing, 21(9–10), 1284–1292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2011.04005.x</u>
- Wiebe, D. J. (1991). Hardiness and stress moderation: A test of proposed mechanisms. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 60(1), 89–99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.60.1.89</u>
- Wiebe, D. J. (2020). Hardiness and Health. In M. D. Gellman & J. R. Turner (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine* (pp. 985–988). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-39903-0_957</u>
- Wiebe, D. J., & McCallum, D. M. (1986). Health practices and hardiness as mediators in the stress-illness relationship. *Health Psychology*, 5(5), 425– 438. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.5.5.425
- Wiebe, D. J., & Williams, P. G. (1992). Hardiness and health: A social psychophysiological perspective on stress and adaptation. *Journal of Social* and Clinical Psychology, 11(3), 238–262. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.1992.11.3.238_
- Williams, P. G., Wiebe, D. J., & Smith, T. W. (1992). Coping processes as mediators of the relationship between hardiness and health. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 15(3), 237–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00845354</u>

Williams, T., Evans, L., Robertson, A., Hardy, L., Roy, S., Lewis, D., &

Glendinning, F. (2020). The role of optimism and psychosocial factors in athletes recovery from ACL injury: A longitudinal study. *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living*, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fspor.2020.00116</u>

World Health Organization. (2020). *Health topics: Clinical trials*. <u>http://www.who.int/topics/clinical_trials/en/</u>

Wouters, O. J., McKee, M., & Luyten, J. (2020). Estimated research and development investment needed to bring a new medicine to market, 2009-2018. *JAMA*, 323(9), 844. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.1166</u>

- Zheng, Z., Rebholz, C. M., Matsushita, K., Hoffman–Bolton, J., Blaha, M. J., Selvin, E., Wruck, L., Sharrett, A. R., & Coresh, J. (2020). Survival advantage of cohort participation attenuates over time: results from three long-standing community-based studies. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 45, 40-46.e4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2020.03.010</u>
- Zimet, G. D., Dahlem, N. W., Zimet, S. G., & Farley, G. K. (1988). The Multidimensional Scale of Perceived Social Support. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 52(1), 30–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa5201_2</u>
- Zimet, G. D., Powell, S. S., Farley, G. K., Werkman, S., & Berkoff, K. A. (1990).
 Psychometric characteristics of the Multidimensional Scale of Perceived
 Social Support. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 55(3–4), 610–617.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.1990.9674095

Zvolensky, M. J., Taha, F., Bono, A., & Goodwin, R. D. (2015). Big five personality

factors and cigarette smoking: A 10-year study among US adults. Journal of

Psychiatric Research, 63, 91–96.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2015.02.008

RE: Use of Hardiness Resilience Gauge For Dissertation Research CRM:0129000555

Wed 7/6/2022 4:37 PM

Hello Angelique,

Thank you for returning the completed Research Discount forms.

MHS is pleased to approve you for the research discount on the HRG for use in your discount titled "Examining Personal Hardiness as an Unexplored Component of the Healthy Volunteer Effect."

You will have access to the HRG research Scored Data Set Reports until July 7, 2023. The current research price is \$8.00 for each HRG Scored Data Set Report. Please note that this price is for 2022 and may increase in 2023.

We have set you up with a Talent Assessment Portal – TAP. You should have received an email today with instructions on how to access the TAP.

If you need help with the TAP, you can call our Client Service Team, Monday to Friday 8am to 6pm EST.

Once you are set up with this TAP, you will be able to begin administering the HRG to your participants prior to making any purchases.

However, before you can score, you will have to ensure that you have the appropriate number of tokens.

The TAP uses Tokens and each Token is valued at \$1.00. You will have to purchase 8 Tokens for each HRG administration that you would like to score.

For instance, if you have 100 completed HRG to score, you will need to purchase 800 Tokens.

You will be able to purchase your Tokens directly in your TAP with a credit card. Please let me know if you have any questions.